



## Development Consultant Services Contract

BC Housing Development Strategies March 2020

www.bchousing.org

# **BC Housing Standard Development Consultant Services Agreement (2020)**

between Client and Development Consultant

## Agreement

## **Table of Contents**

PART A – AGREEMENT FORM	3
PART AA - BC HOUSING RIGHTS AND INVOLVEMENT	4
PART B - DEVELOPMENT CONSULTANT SERVICES	5
PART C - FEES	10
PART D – CLIENT SERVICES	11
PART E - RECORDS AND AUDIT	12
PART F – PAYMENT OF FEES, REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES, INVOICING, ADDITIONAL SERVICES, CHANGE REQUESTS AND CHANGE ORDERS	12
PART G – TERMINATION	15
PART H – DISPUTE RESOLUTION	16
PART I – RIGHTS, REMEDIES & INDEMNITY	17
PART J - CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION AND PRIVACY OBLIGATIONS	
SIGNATURES	23
SCHEDULE A - Services Matrix	24
SCHEDULE B – Consultant Services Fee and Rates	25
SCHEDULE C – Reimbursable Expenses	27
SCHEDULE D - Conflict of Interest Guidelines for Development Consultants	
SCHEDULE E - Definitions	

## PART A – AGREEMENT FORM

A1	This Agreement is made on:	(Date)
A2	between the <i>Client</i> :	
		(Name)
		(Address)
A3	Client's Authorized Representative (as may be changed from time to time in	
	accordance with Section D3	(Name)
		(E-Mail) (Fax No.)
A4	and the <b>Development Consultant</b> :	
		(Name)
	-	(Address)
	-	(E-Mail) (Fax No.)
A5	for the following <b>Project</b>	(insert number of housing units and description of project and project name)
	-	
A6	At the following <i>Place of Work:</i>	(insert address)
A7	<i>Key Personnel</i> (as may be changed from time to time with the written consent of the <i>Client</i> in accordance with Section B5:	
		(Name)
	-	(Name)

## RECITALS

## WHEREAS:

A. The *Development Consultant* has experience in the development of similar projects to the *Project* and has the ability to perform the necessary *Consultant Services* to assist the *Client* in the development of the *Project*,

B. The *Client* has requested the *Development Consultant* to assist it with the development of the *Project* and the *Development Consultant* has agreed to do so and will provide the *Consultant Services* to the *Client* in connection with the *Project* upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth;

C. The agility to adapt to changing circumstances is essential components of the relationship between the *Client* and the *Development Consultant*. This *Agreement* aims to provide for the necessary adjustments throughout the anticipated life cycle of the *Project* including design development and construction; and

D. The *Client* and the *Development Consultant* acknowledge that the success of the *Project* is reliant on the relationship of mutual respect, support, openness, and good faith with each other, *BC Housing* and the *Contractor* engaged to construct the *Project*.

E. If *BC Housing* is not identified as the *Client* in Section A2, *BC Housing* is providing funding or funding/financing to the *Project*.

F. In this *Agreement* and the Schedules, capitalized words and expressions have the meanings set out in SCHEDULE E - DEFINITIONS.

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter contained, the *Client* and the *Development Consultant* agree as follows:

## PART AA - BC HOUSING RIGHTS AND INVOLVEMENT

AA1. If *BC Housing* is not identified as the *Client* in Section A2, then, notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement, the *Client* and the *Development Consultant* will comply with the following:

.1 If the *Client* defaults on any of its obligations in this Agreement, before the *Development Consultant* may exercise any right to terminate this Agreement, the *Development Consultant* will provide written notice to *BC Housing* setting out the details of the Client's default (a "*Client Default Notice*"). From the date of receipt of the *Client Default Notice*, *BC Housing* will have 15 calendar days to provide the *Development Consultant* with a *Step-In Notice*. The *Development Consultant* may only terminate this Agreement if *BC Housing*:

(a) does not provide a *Step-In Notice* within the above time period; or

(b) provides a *Step-In Notice* within the above time period but does not rectify the default within 30 calendar days from receipt of the *Client Default Notice*, provided that the *Development Consultant* and *BC Housing* may mutually agree to extend such rectification period.

.2 If *BC Housing* agrees to assume all the rights and obligations of the *Client* under this *Agreement*, the *Development Consultant*:

(a) shall grant *BC Housing* the same rights as the *Development Consultant* has granted to the *Client* pursuant to this *Agreement* and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the provisions of Part I shall apply *mutatis mutandis*; and

(b) agrees not to make any claim or commence any proceeding against *BC Housing* for any claim the *Development Consultant* may have against the *Client* under this *Agreement*.

.3 In consideration of the funding or financing/funding provided by *BC Housing* to the *Project* and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency, before performing any *Consultant Services*, the *Development Consultant* will:

(a) add *BC Housing* as an additional insured to any insurance policy the *Development Consultant* is required to obtained pursuant to this *Agreement*; and

(b) indemnify *BC Housing* to the same extent as the *Development Consultant* indemnifies the *Client* pursuant to this *Agreement*.

## PART B - DEVELOPMENT CONSULTANT SERVICES

- B1 The *Development Consultant* shall provide to the *Client* the following services in connection with the *Project* (the "*Consultant Services*"):
  - .1 the Basic Services, being those services identified in Stage 1 Project Administration and Coordination (All Phases) in SCHEDULE A -SERVICES MATRIX;
  - .2 those services related to the *Project* as selected (by being checked off), described and assigned to the *Development Consultant* in SCHEDULE A SERVICES MATRIX; and
  - .3 all other services incidental to the *Consultant Services* related to the *Project* which are necessary to assist the *Client* in the co-ordination of the development, construction and completion of the *Project* on the terms and conditions and for the remuneration provided in this *Agreement*.
- B2 In performing the *Consultant Services*, the *Development Consultant* shall exercise a standard of care, skill and diligence that would normally be provided by an experienced and prudent development consultant supplying similar services for similar projects. The *Development Consultant* acknowledges and agrees that throughout the *Agreement*, the performance of the *Development Consultant*'s obligations, duties and responsibilities shall be interpreted in accordance with this standard. The *Development Consultant* shall exercise the

same standard of care, skill and diligence in respect of any Consultant, personnel, or procedures which it may recommend to the *Client*.

- B3 The Development Consultant acknowledges that its standard of care includes the obligation to act with the utmost good faith towards and on behalf of the Client and to perform the Consultant Services in a good and workmanlike manner, in accordance with all applicable laws and current best practices and standards in the construction industry at the Place of the Work. The Development Consultant warrants and represents, and acknowledges that the Client is relying on this warranty and representation in entering into this Agreement, it shall perform the Consultant Services and cause its subcontractors and the Consultants to perform the Consultant Services in accordance with the standard of care set out in Section B2.
- B4 The *Development Consultant* represents and warrants to the *Client*, and acknowledges that the *Client* is relying on this warranty and representation in entering into this *Agreement*, that it has and will continue to have the facilities, personnel and expertise to provide the *Client* with the *Consultant Services* in accordance with the standard of care set out in Section B2.
- B5 The Development Consultant agrees to provide the services of the Key Personnel during the term of this Agreement. Any proposed change by the Development Consultant to the Key Personnel will be submitted to the Client in a written request for approval of the change. In the event that a member of the Key Personnel leaves the Development Consultant of its own initiative, the Development Consultant will notify the Client and submit its proposal for replacing such member of the Key Personnel. In both instances, the Client may approve or reject the proposal for the change in Key Personnel, however, approval of the change will not be unreasonably withheld. The failure of the Development Consultant to obtain the approval of the change will be a Major Default under this Agreement. The Key Personnel shall be the authorized representative(s) of the Development Consultant with respect to the Project.
- B6 The Development Consultant acknowledges it is an independent contractor and is not an agent, servant or employee of the Client. The Development Consultant acknowledges that it is engaged in a business independent from the Client's business and shall perform its obligations under this Agreement as an independent contractor and not as the agent or employee of the Client. The Development Consultant further acknowledges that the persons performing the Consultant Services are not agents or employees of the Client. The Development Consultant shall retain full control over the employment, compensation and discharge of all employees assisting in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement. The Development Consultant agrees to indemnify the Client for any and all payments, which the Client may be required to make to any government department or agency on behalf of the Development Consultant.

- B7 The *Development Consultant* has retained, or will retain, the services of the following third party consultants ("*Consultants*") to assist it in providing the *Development Consultant Services*. Any changes to the *Consultants* will be presented to the *Client* in a written request for acceptance of the change. The *Client* may accept or reject the proposal for the change in any of the *Consultants*, however, approval of the change will not be unreasonably withheld:
- B8 The *Development Consultant* will perform the *Consultant Services* so as to enable the *Project* to be completed in accordance with the most recent plans and specifications, budget and time schedules approved in writing by the *Client*. The *Development Consultant* shall be responsible for ensuring that it has obtained, and is providing the *Consultant Services* based upon, the most recently approved plans, specifications, budget and time schedules to the *Development Consultant* and shall retain copies of all such approved plans, specifications, budget and time schedules to SERVICES MATRIX.
- B9 The *Development Consultant* will not enter into any other contract with respect to the *Project*, or approve any final plans and specifications, budget or time schedules for the *Project*, all of which will be done by the *Client*.
- B10 The *Development Consultant* will monitor the progress of the work on the *Project* and in that regard will keep the *Client* informed of the development and progress of such work and will consult with the *Design Consultants*, the *Contractor* and any *Other Consultants* and keep the *Client* informed as to the *Design Consultants*' and the *Other Consultants*' advice regarding the conformance of the quality and quantity of the work to the *Client*'s requirements.
- B11 The *Development Consultant* will be responsible for advising the *Client* when the *Design Consultants*, the *Contractor*, and any *Other Consultants* are, in the reasonable opinion of the *Development Consultant*, failing to perform their obligations, duties and responsibilities under their respective contracts with the *Client*. The *Development Consultant* shall use reasonable efforts to ensure that the *Design Consultant*, the *Contractor* and the *Other Consultants* properly perform, and do not fail to perform, their obligations, duties and responsibilities under their respective contracts with the *Client*. Failure of the Development Consultant to use its reasonable efforts will be a *Major Default* this *Agreement*. Except as provided in this Section B11, the *Development Consultant* will not be responsible for the failure of the *Design Consultants* to ensure proper completion of the construction or the failure of the *Contractor* to properly complete construction of the work in accordance with plans, specifications and other contract documents approved by the *Client*.
- B12 The *Development Consultant* will be responsible for advising the *Client* when the *Project* budget is affected or, in the reasonably opinion of the *Development*

*Consultant*, is likely to be affected. It is the duty of the *Development Consultant* to work on behalf of the *Client* in the best interests of the quality of the *Project* and objectives of the *Client* to advise the *Client* about budget vulnerabilities throughout the *Project* life cycle, and to seek out reduction or controls through efficiencies, innovation and good project management oversight along with the *Design Consultants*, the *Contractor* and any *Other Consultants*.

B13 The *Development Consultant* shall obtain and pay for the following insurance requirements:

.1 Commercial General Liability Insurance in an amount not less than \$2,000,000.00 inclusive per occurrence against bodily injury, personal injury and property damage and including liability assumed under this *Agreement and* arising out of the operations of the *Development Consultant*, its *Consultants* and sub-consultants and their respective servants, agents, or employees under this *Agreement*;

.2 Professional Errors and Omissions Liability Insurance protecting the *Development Consultant*, its *Consultants* and sub-consultants and their respective servants, agents, or employees against losses, claims, damages, actions, and causes of action that the *Client* may sustain, incur, suffer or be put to at any time either before or after the expiration or termination of this *Agreement*, that arise out of errors, omissions or negligent acts of the *Development Consultant*, or its *Consultants*, sub-consultants, servants, agents, or employees under this *Agreement*. Such insurance shall be in an amount usual for an agreement of this nature but for no less than \$1,000,000 per occurrence and \$2,000,000 in the aggregate;

.3 The Professional Errors and Omissions Liability insurance shall be maintained continuously from the commencement of the *Development Consultant Services* until 72 months after substantial completion of the *Project*. The insurance policy shall include a requirement that no cancellation of the insurance shall be made except with at least 30 business days written notice from the insurer to the *Client* and *BC Housing*. The *Development Consultant* shall advise the *Client* and *BC Housing* in writing of any cancellation or reduction in the level of insurance coverage.

.4 The Development Consultant must:

(a) within 10 business days of commencement of the *Development Consultant Services*, provide the *Client* and *BC Housing* with evidence of all required insurance in a form acceptable to the *Client* and *BC Housing*;

(b) within 10 business days of the expiration of any insurance policy during the term of this Agreement, provide the *Client* and *BC Housing* with evidence of new or renewal policy, showing no break in coverage, in a form acceptable to the *Client* and *BC Housing*; and

(c) upon request by the *Client* or *BC Housing* at any time, provide to the *Client* and *BC Housing* certified copies of the required insurance policies.

.5 The *Development Consultant* shall provide, maintain, and pay for any additional insurance which it is required by law to carry, or which it considers necessary to cover risks not otherwise covered by insurance specified in this schedule in its sole discretion.

- B14 The *Development Consultant* will disclose to the *Client* and *BC Housing* any real, potential or perceived interest that it has or may have or that its directors, officers, shareholders, agents, authorized representatives or employees now have or may have in any aspect of the *Project* at the time of execution of this Agreement or at any time during the term of this *Agreement*.
- B15 The Development Consultant will abide by the Guidelines and will be responsible for ensuring that its directors, officers, shareholders, agents, authorized representatives and employees and those of its Consultants abide by the Guidelines. The Development Consultant will provide a copy of the Guidelines to, and obtain a written acknowledgement from, each of its directors, officers, shareholders, agents, authorized representatives and employees and those of its Consultants, that they have read and understand and agree to comply with the Guidelines. The Development Consultant will be responsible for a breach of the Guidelines. The Development Consultant will be responsible for a breach of the Guidelines by its directors, officers, shareholders, agents, authorized representatives and employees and those of its Consultants and such breach will be a Major Default under this Agreement.
- B16 In the event a conflict of interest as described in the *Guidelines* arises during the term of this *Agreement*:
  - .1 The Development Consultant will immediately provide to the Client and to BC Housing:
    - (a) a statutory declaration pursuant to, and in the form attached to, the *Guidelines*; and
    - (b) a written request for consent of the *Client* and *BC Housing* for the *Development Consultant* to proceed with the transaction giving rise to the conflict of interest and all relevant details of the conflict of interest (which written request and details shall be attached to and form part of the statutory declaration).
  - .2 Subject to subsection .3 below, the *Development Consultant* will not proceed with any transaction giving rise to the conflict of interest and will not accept any fees, disbursements, bonuses, payments or other compensation in relation to the *Project* from any source in addition to the

fees and disbursements payable by the *Client* pursuant to this *Agreement*, except with the express written consent of *Client* and *BC Housing*;

- .3 The *Development Consultant* may accept fees, disbursements, bonuses, payments or other compensation in relation to the *Project* in addition to the fees and disbursements payable by the *Client* pursuant to this *Agreement* only if such fees, disbursements, bonuses, payments or other compensation are:
  - (a) from Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC), the Columbian Basin Trust (CBT), or some other publicly funded source provided such arrangement was place prior to this Agreement being entered into;
  - (b) from a local government in situations where the costs of a publicly funded facility comprising part of the *Project* are shared with a local government; or
  - (c) approved in writing by the *Client* and *BC Housing*.
- B17 The *Development Consultant* will promptly provide to the *Client* and *BC Housing* a statutory declaration in a form acceptable to the Client and *BC Housing* in accordance with the *Guidelines* upon the request, at any time, of either the *Client* or *BC Housing*.
- B18 The Development Consultant shall, as soon as reasonably possible, notify the *Client, BC Housing* and any other entity the Development Consultant knows is involved in the Project with the Client, if the Development Consultant becomes aware of any information technology related threat that has been or may be transmitted electronically to the Client, BC Housing or any such other entities. Information technology related threats include but are not limited to: viruses, rogue security software, trojan horses, *spyware*, computer worms, phishing, rootkits and any real or perceived electronic attack (the "IT Threat"). If the Client or BC Housing becomes aware of an IT Threat, the Development Consultant acknowledges that the Client or BC Housing may, at its sole discretion, notify any organization that it reasonably believes could be exposed to the same IT Threat and include in such notification any relevant details for the purpose of avoiding or minimizing any negative impact.

## PART C - FEES

C1 Subject to the early termination provisions of this *Agreement* and the right of the *Client* to withhold payment pursuant to Section F8, the fee payable to the Development Consultant for providing the *Consultant Services* set out in SCHEDULE A - SERVICES MATRIX, excluding any value added taxes, shall be calculated in accordance with SCHEDULE B - DEVELOPMENT CONSULTANT SERVICES FEE AND RATES and shall be a fixed fee in the following amount (the "*Fee*"):

C2 The *Fee* shall be apportioned to the relevant phase or section (each a "*Phase*") of the *Consultant Services* as follows:

.1 Project Administration & Coordination – all phases	\$ %
.2 Pre-design / Pre-development phase	\$ %
.3 Schematic design phase	\$ %
.4 Design Development phase	\$ %
.5 Working Drawings phase	\$ %
.6 Construction phase	\$ %
.7 Post Construction phase	\$ %
Total [the total shall equal the fixed fee set out in C1]	\$ 100%

C3 The Development Consultant shall be entitled to be reimbursed for Reimbursable Expenses.

## PART D – CLIENT SERVICES

- D1 The *Client* will provide the services related to the *Project* as selected (by being checked off), described and assigned to the *Client* in SCHEDULE A –SERVICES MATRIX (the "*Client Services*").
- D2 The *Client* has retained, or intends to retain, the services of the following third party consultants ("*Other Consultants*") to assist it in providing the *Others Services* as selected (by being checked off), described and assigned to *Others* in SCHEDULE A –SERVICES MATRIX:

D3 The *Client* has or will authorize the person(s) identified in Section A3 to act as its representative with respect to the *Project*. Such person(s) may be changed from time to time by the *Client*. The Client will provide notice of any such change to the *Development Consultant*.

- D4 The *Client* will use its reasonable efforts to keep the *Development Consultant* apprised of major decisions it makes in connection with the *Project*, in so far as such decisions are pertinent to the *Consultant Services* to be provided by the *Development Consultant*.
- D5 The *Client* will provide to the *Development Consultant* copies of records showing monies received and disbursements made by the *Client* in connection with the *Project*.

- E1 The Development Consultant will keep and maintain full and detailed records for six years after expiry of any applicable warranty period all records, reports and other documentation required under this Agreement. During this period, the *Client* and the *Client's* representatives may on request, and acting reasonably, require copies of, inspect and audit all books, invoices and records of the *Development Consultant* that relate to any *Changes Order, Change Requests*, delay, claims or disputes by the *Development Consultant*, including but not limited to quotations and invoices by *Consultants, Other Consultants* or suppliers to the *Project.* The *Client* may be assisted by a third party audit firm of the *Client's* choice. In conducting the audit, the *Client* will have all powers necessarily incidental to conducting an audit, including the right to have reasonable access to the *Development Consultant*, its offices and its personnel and to inspect and take copies of any record.
- E2 If the *Client* provides notice to the *Development Consultant* that the *Client* is conducting an audit, the *Development Consultant* will promptly provide all other information reasonably requested by the *Client* or its audit firm. The *Development Consultant* will cooperate with the *Client* and its audit firm in the conduct of any audit and the parties will promptly review and settle all matters arising from such audit, including the refunding or payment of monies to the other, if applicable.
- E3 The *Development Consultant* must ensure that all direct and indirect contracts with *Consultants* include an agreement to be bound by the terms of this Part E and to provide access to the *Client* and its third party audit firm to perform an audit in accordance with this Part E. The *Development Consultant* acknowledges that both the *Client* and its third party audit firm may request information to support an audit directly from any of *Consultants* and the *Development Consultant* will not prevent or influence its *Consultants* from supplying the information.
- E4 Notwithstanding the above, subject to applicable law, the right to review, inspect audit or copy will not extend to financial statements of the *Development Consultant or Consultants* or the composition of the Fee and the Rates except to the extent the *Client* requires such information to validate the costs make-up of a *Change Order*.

## PART F – PAYMENT OF FEES, REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES, INVOICING, ADDITIONAL SERVICES, CHANGE REQUESTS AND CHANGE ORDERS

F1 The *Client* will pay the *Fee* and *Reimbursable Expenses* to the *Development Consultant* for the *Consultant Services* agreed to be provided herein on the terms and conditions set forth in this *Agreement*.

- F2 The Development Consultant will carry out the Consultant Services and submit invoices for the Consultant Services only in accordance with the chronology of the Phases as set forth in Section C2, except with the prior written consent of the Client. The Development Consultant shall not carry out Consultant Services or submit any invoices in connection with a particular Phase until such time as the prior Phases listed in Section C2 have been completed or are underway and it is customary in similar projects for such particular Phase to commence. For clarity and by way of example, the Development Consultant shall not carry out Consultant Services or submit any invoices or submit any invoices in connection with the Working Drawings Phase until such time as it the prior Phases listed in Section C2 subsections .2 to .4 have been completed or are underway and it is customary in similar projects for the Working Drawings Phase to commence.
- F3 The *Development Consultant* shall invoice the *Client* for *Consultant Services* performed, and *Reimbursable Expenses* incurred, based on, as applicable, the following:
  - .1 The apportionment of the *Fee* for each *Phase* of the *Consultant Services* as stated in Section C2 of this *Agreement* and in the proportion to progress made within each *Phase* of the *Services;*
  - .2 *Reimbursable Expenses* incurred to date; and
  - .3 any applicable value added taxes.
- F4 The *Development Consultant* shall issue the invoice referred to in Section F3 on a monthly basis, unless the *Client* and the *Development Consultant* otherwise agree.
- F5 The invoices will be accompanied by a report containing the following items and such other information as reasonably requested from time to time by the *Client:* 
  - .1 a description identifying which of the *Consultant Services* have been delivered and the status of the *Phases* in sufficient detail for the *Client* to understand the *Consultant Services* provided, the main tasks that have been undertaken, and the stage of the *Project* to enable payment to be made. Reimbursable expenses should be itemized with receipts;
  - .2 a progress billing report detailing the following items:

(a) the amount of the *Fee* and the amount of the *Reimbursable Expenses* invoiced for the current billing period;

(b) the aggregate amount of the *Fee* and the amount of the *Reimbursable Expenses* invoiced to date;

(c) the aggregate amount of the *Fee* invoiced to date as a percentage of the total *Fee;* and

- .3 an itemized list of *Reimbursable Expenses* and copies of receipts therefor;
- .4 copies of detailed invoices or receipts for *Consultants* that may be engaged for the *Project* by the *Development Consultant*, and
- .5 confirmation in writing that all previous invoices for *Consultants* that may be engaged for the *Project* by the *Development Consultant* have been paid or if not yet paid, a detailed explanation as to the reason not yet paid.
- F6 Any expenditure not included in paragraph 3 of SCHEDULE C REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES which the *Development Consultant* wishes to invoice as a *Reimbursable Expense* shall be approved by the *Client* in writing as a *Reimbursable Expense* prior to such expenditure being incurred.
- F7 Subject to the provisions of Section F8, payment of an invoice by the *Client* is due within 30 days of receipt by the *Client* of an invoice containing the information required by Section F5 in form and substance satisfactory to the *Client*.
- F8 Except as set forth in subsection .3 of this Section F8, no deduction will be made from the monies payable to the *Development Consultant* hereunder because of:
  - .1 refunds or rebates granted to the *Client*;
  - .2 a reduction in the budget for the *Project*, or
  - .3 liquidated damages or other sums withheld from contractors or other persons engaged on the work unless such damages or other sums are the result of acts improperly carried out, omissions or delays in carrying out acts or the negligent advice by the *Development Consultant*; In the event the *Client* incurs or, in the opinion of the *Client* acting reasonably, is likely to incur, damages or other sums as a result of acts improperly carried out, omissions or delays in carrying out acts or the negligent advice by the *Development Consultant*; the *Client* may withhold payment to the *Development Consultant*, in the amount of such damages or other sums and pay such damages or other sums from the amount withheld.
- F9 Upon recognizing there may be a need for the *Development Consultant* to perform additional services over and above the Consultant Services, either the *Development Consultant* or the *Client* may promptly provide a written request ("Change Request") to the other party for *Additional Services* to be performed by the *Development Consultant* (the "Requested Changes"), which Change Request shall include:

.1 if, and how, the said *Requested Changes* will affect the cost of the *Project*,

.2 if the *Change Request* is from the *Development Consultant*, upon the request of the *Client*, the *Change Request* shall include an itemized breakdown of the costs and the implication of the *Requested Changes*; and

.3 whether or not the *Project* budget has sufficient funds for such additional costs.

- F10 In order to proceed with any such *Change Request*, a change order must be prepared by the *Development Consultant* and approved in writing by the *Client* and the *Development Consultant* (a "*Change Order*"), which *Change Order* will include the following:
  - .1 the parties' agreement as to the effect of the *Requested Changes* on:
    - (a) the cost of the *Project*,
    - (b) the construction schedule;
    - (c) the *Project* generally; and
    - (d) an acknowledgement that there are sufficient *Project* funds available to cover the cost of the said *Requested Changes* and fees to the *Development Consultant*.
- F11 The Development Consultant shall only perform Additional Services or earn additional fees pursuant to a Change Order approved in writing by both the Client and the Development Consultant.
- F12 The Development Consultant shall use the Rates to price Additional Services.

## PART G – TERMINATION

- G1 The *Client* may terminate this *Agreement* at any time by giving not less than 30 days' notice in writing to the *Development Consultant*.
- G2 The *Client* may terminate this Agreement if the *Development Consultant* commits a Major Default or either the *Client* or the *Development Consultant* may terminate this *Agreement* at any time if the other party breaches a material term of this *Agreement* or fails to properly perform its obligations pursuant to this *Agreement*. No such termination will take place unless the party terminating has given the other party five business days' written notice of such default and such default has not been rectified within such five day period or as otherwise agreed by the parties.

- G3 In the event this *Agreement* is terminated pursuant to Section G1 or Section G2, in each instance:
  - .1 the *Client* shall have the right to withhold payment pursuant to subsection .3 of Section F8;
  - .2 the *Development Consultant* will be entitled to be paid for *Consultant Services* rendered and *Reimbursable Expenses* incurred to the date of termination;
  - .3 payment for *Consultant Services* rendered and *Reimbursable Expenses* incurred shall be made within 30 days of receipt by the *Client* of an invoice in compliance with Section F5 of this *Agreement*;
  - .4 if the Development Consultant has rendered Consultant Services in advance of the applicable Phase in contravention of Section F2, the Development Consultant shall not be entitled to be paid for any such Consultant Services or Reimbursable Expenses incurred in connection therewith; and
  - .5 the *Development Consultant* hereby agrees to waive receipt of the balance of the Fee and the *Development Consultant* shall not be entitled to any compensation for loss of profit or additional profit, loss of revenue or loss of business opportunities.

G4 Unless otherwise stated in this *Agreement*, this *Agreement* shall expire upon the later of:

- .1 one year after the date of *Substantial Performance* of the work for the *Project*;
- .2 certification of *Total Performance* of the work for the *Project*; or
- .3 three months after the expiry of the one year warranty contained in the construction contract for the *Project*.

## PART H – DISPUTE RESOLUTION

- H1 Differences between the *Development Consultant* and the *Client* as to the interpretation, application or administration of this *Agreement*, or any failure to agree where agreement between the *Development Consultant* and the *Client* is called for, broadly described as disputes, will be remedied in accordance with this Part H of the *Agreement*.
- H2 The *Development Consultant* and the *Client* shall make all reasonable efforts to resolve disputes by amicable negotiations and shall provide, on a without

prejudice basis, frank, candid and timely disclosure of relevant facts, information and documents, to facilitate these negotiations.

- H3 If a dispute is not resolved by negotiation within 15 days of commencing negotiation, the *Development Consultant* and the *Client* will submit the dispute to the Presidents or Chief Executive Officers of each of the *Development Consultants* or the *Client* or their single respective designees.
- H4 If the dispute is not resolved by agreement of the Presidents or Chief Executive Officers or their respective designees within 15 days following the submission of the matter to them, the *Client* and the *Development Consultant* will submit the matter to a mediator whose expenses will be shared equally by the *Client* and the *Development Consultant* and who is acceptable to both parties or, if they cannot agree, a mediator appointed by the *British Columbia International Arbitration* <u>Centre</u>.
- H5 If mediation pursuant to Section H4 does not result in a resolution of the dispute within 15 days of the commencement of mediation, the parties will submit the dispute within 15 days of the failure of the mediation to arbitration by a single arbitrator whose expenses will be shared equally by the *Client* and the *Development Consultant* and who is acceptable to both parties or, if they cannot agree, an arbitrator appointed by the *British Columbia International Arbitration* <u>*Centre*</u>. The determination of the arbitrator will be conclusive and binding on the parties. *The <u>Arbitration Act</u>* of British Columbia or successor legislation will apply to the arbitration.

## PART I – RIGHTS, REMEDIES & INDEMNITY

- 11 The duties and obligations imposed by this *Agreement* and the rights and remedies available hereunder are in addition to and not a limitation of any duties, obligations, rights and remedies otherwise imposed or available by law.
- 12 The representations and warranties of the *Development Consultant* in or under this *Agreement* shall survive the termination or expiry of this *Agreement* and shall continue in full force and effect for a period of two years from the termination or expiry date.
- 13 Notwithstanding the provision of any insurance coverage by the *Client*, the *Development Consultant* hereby agrees to indemnify and save harmless the *Client*, the *Client's* successors and representatives of each of them from and against losses, claims, damages, actions, and causes of action (collectively referred to as "*Claims*") that the *Client* may sustain, incur, suffer or be put to at any time either before or after the expiration or termination of this Agreement, that arise out of errors, omissions or negligent acts of the *Development Consultant* or the *Consultants*, sub-consultants, servants, agents or employees under this *Agreement*, excepting always that this indemnity does not apply to the extent, if any, to which the Claims are caused by errors, omissions or the

negligent acts of the *Client*, the *Other Consultants*, assigns and authorized representatives or any other persons.

- 14 Subject to Section I5, any and all claims, whether in contract or tort, which the *Client* has or may have against the *Development Consultant* in any way arising out of, or related to, the *Development's Consultant's* duties and responsibilities, including those arising from Section I2, shall be limited in amount to the greater of:
  - .1 the applicable insurance limits that the *Development Consultant* is required to have under Section B13 of this *Agreement*, and
  - .2 the actual amount of insurance coverage that the *Development Consultant* has in place for this *Project*.
- IS Section I4 will not limit the *Development Consultant's* liability in connection with:
  - .1 infringement of the intellectual property rights of a third party; or
  - . 2 gross negligence or malfeasance.

## PART J - CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION AND PRIVACY OBLIGATIONS

- J1 The *Recipient* will not use any *Confidential Information* for any purpose outside the scope of this *Agreement* or disclose any *Confidential Information* to any person or entity, except with the *Discloser's* prior written consent.
- J2 The obligation of nondisclosure in Section J1 will not apply to any *Confidential* Information that the Recipient is required to disclose by applicable law, provided that the Recipient provides the Discloser with prompt written notice of the requirement to disclose, reasonable assistance in opposing or limiting such disclosure, and limits disclosure to the Confidential Information that is strictly required by the applicable court, government agency or legal process. The Recipient may disclose Confidential Information to those of its employees, subcontractors and other representatives who have a need to know such Confidential Information in connection with the Recipient's performance of the Consultant Services or the Client Services, as the case may be, provided that the employee, subcontractor or other representative has entered into a written confidentiality agreement with the *Recipient* that contains provisions that are at least as protective of the Confidential Information as the provisions of this Agreement. The Recipient will be responsible for any breach of Section J1 by its employees, subcontractors and other representatives.
- J3 The *Recipient* agrees that any unauthorized disclosure of *Confidential Information* may cause immediate and irreparable injury to the *Discloser* and that, in the event of such breach, the *Discloser* will be entitled, in addition to any other available remedies, to immediate injunctive and other equitable relief.

- J4 The *Client* acknowledges that all *Personal Information* is *Confidential Information* to which the provisions of Section J1 and Section J2 apply, except to the extent such provisions are inconsistent with this Section J4, which prevails with respect to *Personal Information*. In addition to the obligations set out in Section J1 and notwithstanding the disclosure rights set out in Section J2, the *Development Consultant* will, during the performance of the *Consultant Services*:
  - .1 not use *Personal Information* for any purposes other than as specifically contemplated under this Agreement;
  - .2 receive, collect, use, store, access, process, record, disclose, transfer, retain, dispose of, destroy, manage or otherwise handle all *Personal Information* in accordance with all applicable laws relating to the collection, storage, use and disclosure of Personal Information, as amended from time-to-time, including the <u>Freedom of Information and Protection of</u> <u>Privacy Act</u> of British Columbia, the regulations thereunder, and any similar statutes and laws in any other jurisdictions (collectively, "**Privacy Law**");
  - .3 perform its obligations under this Section J4 in a manner that will enable the *Client* to comply with *Privacy Law*;
  - .4 if the *Development Consultant* has knowledge of any unauthorized disclosure of or access to *Personal Information* of any of the customers or clients of the *Client*, the *Development Consultant* will:
    - (a) immediately report such unauthorized disclosure or access to the *Client* and *BC Housing*;
    - (b) cooperate with the *Client* and *BC Housing* in providing any notices regarding impermissible disclosures caused by such disclosure or access which the *Client* or and *BC Housing* deems appropriate; and
    - (c) not make any public statements about the unauthorized disclosure or access (even if such disclosure or access affects other customers of the *Development Consultant*) without the prior written consent of the *Client* and *BC Housing*.

## PART K – MISCELLANEOUS GENERAL PROVISIONS

- K1 In the event of any conflict, inconsistency, ambiguity or difference between:
  - .1 the terms of the main body of this *Agreement* and the terms of any Schedule to this *Agreement* or *Change Order*, other than to the extent that the *Change Order* modifies the *Consultant Services* to be rendered and the *Fee* payable, the terms of the main body of this *Agreement* will govern and be paramount and any such provision in the Schedule or *Change Order* will be deemed to be amended to the extent necessary to eliminate any such conflict, inconsistency, ambiguity or difference. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if there is any right or remedy of the *Client* set out in this *Agreement* or any part hereof which is not set out or provided for in a Schedule or *Change Order*, such additional right or remedy will not constitute a conflict or inconsistency and the *Client w*ill be entitled to exercise such rights and enforce such remedies;
  - .2 the terms of any *Change Order* and the terms of any Schedule to this *Agreement*, the terms of any *Change Order* to the extent it modifies the Consultant Services to be rendered and the Fee payable, will govern and be paramount; in all other events, the terms of the Schedules to this *Agreement* will govern and be paramount.
  - .3 the terms of various *Change Orders*, the most current *Change Order* will govern and prevail, superseding older *Change Orders*;
  - .4 the terms of various Schedules to this *Agreement*, the *Client*, acting reasonably, shall determine the order of precedence.
- K2 Neither the expiration nor the earlier termination of this Agreement will release either of the parties from any obligation or liability that accrued prior to the expiration or termination. The provisions of this Agreement requiring performance or fulfilment after the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, such other provisions as are necessary for the interpretation thereof, and any other provisions hereof, the nature and intent of which is to survive termination or expiration of this Agreement, will survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement.

- K3 Any notice required to be given pursuant to this *Agreement* will be addressed in writing to the respective *Client* or *Development* Consultant at the addresses stated in Section A2 and Section A4 or such other address as may have been subsequently provided to the other party in writing and any notice so given will be deemed to have been received on the third day following mailing in a postage-paid cover mailed in a post office in Canada or if delivered by hand or by telecopier will be deemed to have been received on the next succeeding business day.
- 11 This *Agreement* will enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto, their executors, administrators, representatives, successors and permitted assigns.
- 12 Neither the *Client* nor the *Development Consultant* will assign this *Agreement* without the prior written consent of the other, except that this *Agreement* or any of the rights and obligations hereunder may be assigned to *BC Housing* without the consent of the other party. In such case, the party assigning its rights and obligations to *BC Housing* shall provide notice of such assignment to the other party.
- 13 Time will be of the essence of this *Agreement*.
- 14 This *Agreement* will be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of British Columbia.
- 15 The division of this *Agreement* into sections and the insertion of headings are for convenience of reference only and are not intended to govern, limit or aid in the construction of any provision. In all cases, the language in this *Agreement* will be construed simply, according to its fair meaning, and not strictly for or against any party.
- 16 The word "including", when following any general statement, term or matter, is not to be construed to limit such general statement, term or matter to the specific items or matters set out immediately following such word or to similar items or matters whether or not non-limiting language such as "without limitation" or "but not limited to" or words of similar import is used with reference thereto, but rather such general statement, term or matter is to be construed to refer to all other items or matters that could reasonably fall within the broadest possible scope of such general statement, term or matter.
- 17 If any provision contained in this *Agreement* is for any reason held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability will not affect any other provisions of this *Agreement* which will be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained therein and such other provisions will be enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.

18 No consent or waiver expressed or implied, by a party of any default by the other party in observing or performing its obligations under this *Agreement* will be deemed or construed to be a consent or waiver of any other default. Failure on the part of a party to complain of any act or failure to act by the other party or to declare the other party in default, irrespective of how long such failure continues, will not constitute a waiver by such party of its rights under this *Agreement* or at law or at equity.

## SIGNATURES

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the duly authorized signatories of the parties hereto have executed this *Agreement* as of the day and year first above written.

Client

(Name of Client)
(Signature)
(PRINT – Name and title of person signing)
(Signature)
(PRINT – Name and title of person signing)
Witness - Client
(Signature)
(PRINT – Name and title of person signing)
Development Consultant
(Name of Development Consultant)
(Signature)
(PRINT – Name and title of person signing)

(Signature)

(PRINT - Name and title of person signing)

## Witness - Development Consultant

(Signature)

(PRINT – Name and title of person signing)

Instructions:

Parties to the Development Consultant Services Agreement, using this Schedule A -

Services Matrix as a scope guide are to indicate via a check mark ( $\bullet$ ) in the applicable box for the services to be provided by the *Development Consultant*, by *Others*, by the *Client*, or indicate that that service is not applicable.

## Consultants engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project

In the event that *Consultants Services* are completed by a *Consultant* (i.e.: a subconsultant) engaged by the *Development Consultant* for the *Project*, the service should

be indicated as the responsibility of the *Development Consultant*, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Development Consultant Services" column.

## Consultant engaged by the Client for the Project

In the event that services are completed by a consultant engaged by the *Client* for the *Project*, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of *Others*, and a check

mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Provided by Others" column.

## Notes:

This Services Matrix as part of the BC Housing Development Consultant Services Contract is not intended to be used to engage for professional design services, nor is it meant to replace any form of contract that exists under a professional standard that governs professional design/engineering services. The matrix is specifically for the purposes of defining a Development Consultant's scope of work. The purpose of assigning scopes to team members by 'ticking' the column is to ensure that redundancy is kept to a minimum and that value is expressed through the resultant fees. For tasks or services not covered in this Schedule A – Services Matrix, please see Part F of the Agreement.

The Services Identified to be provided by the Development Consultant in this Schedule A - Services Matrix are in addition to any Consultant Services to be provided by the Development Consultant in the main body of the Development Consultant Services Agreement.

#### Instructions:

Parties to the Development Consultant Services Agreement, using this Schedule A - Services Matrix as a scope guide are to indicate via a check mark (•) in the applicable box for the services to be provided by the Development Consultant, by Others, by the Client, or indicate that that service is not applicable.

#### Consultants engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project

In the event that Consultants Services are completed by a Consultant (i.e.: a sub-consultant) engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of the Development Consultant, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Development Consultant Services" column.

#### Consultant engaged by the Client for the Project

In the event that services are completed by a consultant engaged by the Client for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of Others, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Provided by Others" column.

#### Notes:

This Services Matrix as part of the BC Housing Development Consultant Services Contract is not intended to be used to engage for professional design services, nor is it meant to replace any form of contract that exists under a professional standard that governs professional design/engineering services. The matrix is specifically for the purposes of defining a Development Consultant's scope of work. The purpose of assigning scopes to team members by 'ticking' the column is to ensure that redundancy is kept to a minimum and that value is expressed through the resultant fees. For tasks or services not covered in this Schedule A – Services Matrix, please see Part F of the Agreement.

Project .	Address:						
Client N	ame:						
BASIC	STAGE	:	DESCRIPTION	DEVELOPMENT	CLIENT'S	PROVIDED BY	NOT
	Services, bei	ng tho	se Services identified in this Stage 1 - Project Administration and Coordination there or not they are checked off in this Schedule A - Services Matrix).	SERVICES	RESPONSIBILITIES	OTHERS	APPLICABLE
1.01 BASIC		1.01	Administration - Client Review and Advocacy. Facilitate with Client a review of the design and other project related requirements (schedule, procurement, budget) at various milestone stages to manage Client requirements and assist design professionals to ensure Client requirements are met and instruct the design and or project team to modify / change scope, budget, or schedule as necessary of requirements.	~			
1.02 BASIC	PROJECT ADMINISTRATION & COORDINATION (ALL PHASES)	1.02	Administration - Accounting and Invoicing - Account for all Project costs and prepare regular invoicing/claims as required. Maintain all books of account on behalf of the Client as it relates to the Project, including but not limited to, administrative and financial records and copies of all approved plans and specifications, budgets and time schedules. Make available such books of account and copies of approved plans and specifications budgets and specifications, budgets and time schedules at all times for inspection by an authorized representative of the Client during normal business hours at the office of the Development Consultant.	~			
1.03 BASIC	INATIC	1.03	Administration - General Documentation - Create and Maintain Project reporting protocol through the coordination and compilation of ongoing capital budget/expense review, schedule, monthly reports and cash flow.	$\checkmark$			
1.04 BASIC	ORD	1.04	Administration - Meetings. Facilitate Project steering meetings, communicating with all invitees and providing meeting minutes within 5 business days of meeting.	$\checkmark$			
1.05 BASIC	ON & CO	1.05	Administration - Project Team Breakdown: Provide, update and maintain a Project team organizational breakdown structure noting the general roles and responsibility of the Project team. This may include but is not limited to work breakdown structures, project communication plans, risk management plans, and core stakeholder objectives schedules.	~			
1.06 BASIC	<b>TRATI</b>	1.06	Professional Coordination - Taxes. Coordinate and assist the Project Accountant with the correct tax filing and reporting. To include but not limited to GST/HST filings, input tax credit and rebate reporting.	$\checkmark$			
1.07 BASIC		1.07	Professional Coordination - Incorporation, Constitution and Bylaws - Assist in the review of the Client's Constitution and Bylaws, and where applicable assist in ensuring that bylaws adhere to authority requiring alignment to program requirements.	✓			
1.08 BASIC	JECT	1.08	Professional Coordination - Accounting and Invoicing: Coordinate with Client to have annual financial statements audited as necessary.	$\checkmark$			
1.09 BASIC	PRO	1.09	Professional Coordination - Meetings. Attend and assist in the coordination of design consultants meetings, construction site meetings and post completion or handover meetings, and ensure that chairing party (i.e.: contractor or architect) provides minutes within 5 business days of meeting and are distributed to all relevant parties.	~			

#### Instructions:

Parties to the Development Consultant Services Agreement, using this Schedule A - Services Matrix as a scope guide are to indicate via a check mark (•) in the applicable box for the services to be provided by the Development Consultant, by Others, by the Client, or indicate that that service is not applicable.

#### Consultants engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project

In the event that Consultants Services are completed by a Consultant (i.e.: a sub-consultant) engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of the Development Consultant, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Development Consultant Services" column.

#### Consultant engaged by the Client for the Project

In the event that services are completed by a consultant engaged by the Client for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of Others, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Provided by Others" column.

#### Notes:

This Services Matrix as part of the BC Housing Development Consultant Services Contract is not intended to be used to engage for professional design services, nor is it meant to replace any form of contract that exists under a professional standard that governs professional design/engineering services. The matrix is specifically for the purposes of defining a Development Consultant's scope of work. The purpose of assigning scopes to team members by 'ticking' the column is to ensure that redundancy is kept to a minimum and that value is expressed through the resultant fees. For tasks or services not covered in this Schedule A – Services Matrix, please see Part F of the Agreement.

The Services Identified to be provided by the Development Consultant in this Schedule A - Services Matrix are in addition to any Consultant Services to be provided by the Development Consultant in the main body of the Development Consultant Services Agreement.

Client N	Address: ame:						
BASIC SERVICES	STAGE		DESCRIPTION	DEVELOPMENT CONSULTANT SERVICES	CLIENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES	PROVIDED BY OTHERS	NOT APPLICABLE
1.10 BASIC			Professional Coordination - Funding & Financing Application and Compliance. Assist the Client with securing acceptable financing for the Project and coordinate all documentation as required by funders. Prepare project proposal submission for capital funding and/or financing which includes but is not limited to: confirming Client eligibility, confirmation of project compliance with program guidelines, assisting in isite evaluations, assisting in establishing procurement techniques, assembling project team, development of capital budget proforma, development of operating proforma, establishing development schedule, cash flow analysis (including NOI, DCR and subsidy calculations) ensuring sufficient research is conducted to establish project feasibility including need and demand, and assembling information in a format acceptable for submission.	~			
1.11 BASIC	COORDINATION (ALL PHASES)		Professional Coordination - Professional/Expert Advisory Provide assistance to the design Consultant(s) (Architect or equivalent role) in the coordination and communications between design disciplines which may include: architectural design services; structural, mechanical, electrical, landscape, & civil engineering; interior design; sustainability or LEED consultation; commissioning agents; quantity surveyor or cost estimator; interior design or FF&E (furnishing, fixtures and equipment) selection and procurement; and Contractor.	✓			
1.12 BASIC	ON & COOR		Professional Coordination - Coordinating Work of Separate Contractors – Conduct coordination of contractors in direct contract with the Client. Process individual applications for payment, payment certification, completion and takeover with regard to each contract. Set out in writing the agreed to extent to which coordination services apply in this contract.	<b>&gt;</b>			
1.13 BASIC	PROJECT ADMINISTRATION &		Professional Coordination - Design and Construction Documents - Provide assistance to Primary Consultant (Architect or equivalent role) in the coordination and communications between design disciplines which may include: architectural design services; structural, mechanical, electrical, landscape, & civil engineering; interior design; sustainability or LEED consultation; commissioning agents; quantity surveyor or cost estimator; and interior design or FF&E (furnishing, fixtures and equipment) selection and procurement.	✓			
1.14 BASIC		1.14	Professional Coordination - General Contractor or Construction Manager – Provide coordination between Contractor and Client. Assist the Client in the processing of individual applications for payment, payment certification, completion and takeover with regard to each contract.	>			
1.15 BASIC	Ŭ I		Professional Coordination - Marketing - Provide coordination services for design, selection, procurement and installation of graphics, corporate logos, signage and similar elements for interior and exterior application.	✓			
1.16 BASIC	1	1.16	Professional Coordination - Marketing - Provide coordination services for any press release, media liaison or events such as ground breaking ceremonies, grand openings or formal public announcements.	✓			

#### Instructions:

Parties to the Development Consultant Services Agreement, using this Schedule A - Services Matrix as a scope guide are to indicate via a check mark (•) in the applicable box for the services to be provided by the Development Consultant, by Others, by the Client, or indicate that that service is not applicable.

#### Consultants engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project

In the event that Consultants Services are completed by a Consultant (i.e.: a sub-consultant) engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of the Development Consultant, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Development Consultant Services" column.

#### Consultant engaged by the Client for the Project

In the event that services are completed by a consultant engaged by the Client for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of Others, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Provided by Others" column.

#### Notes:

This Services Matrix as part of the BC Housing Development Consultant Services Contract is not intended to be used to engage for professional design services, nor is it meant to replace any form of contract that exists under a professional standard that governs professional design/engineering services. The matrix is specifically for the purposes of defining a Development Consultant's scope of work. The purpose of assigning scopes to team members by 'ticking' the column is to ensure that redundancy is kept to a minimum and that value is expressed through the resultant fees. For tasks or services not covered in this Schedule A – Services Matrix, please see Part F of the Agreement.

The Services Identified to be provided by the Development Consultant in this Schedule A - Services Matrix are in addition to any Consultant Services to be provided by the Development Consultant in the main body of the Development Consultant Services Agreement.

Client Name:							
BASIC SERVICES	STAG	E	DESCRIPTION	DEVELOPMENT CONSULTANT SERVICES	CLIENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES	PROVIDED BY OTHERS	NOT APPLICABLE
1.17 BASIC	PROJECT ADMINISTRATION & COORDINATION (ALL PHASES)	1.17	<ul> <li>Professional Coordination - Revisions to Construction Documents - Provide assistance to Primary Consultant (Architect or equivalent role) in coordination services when drawings, specifications or other documents need revisions which are: <ul> <li>a) Caused by instructions that are inconsistent with instructions or written approvals previously given by the Client, including revisions made necessary by adjustments in the Client's program or construction budget,</li> <li>b) Caused by enactment or revisions of statutes, regulations, codes or by-laws, subsequent to the preparation of such documents,</li> <li>c) Caused by an interpretation by the authorities having jurisdiction which difference the architect's interpretation of statutes, regulations, codes and by-laws, which difference the architect could not have reasonably anticipated, or</li> <li>d) Due to changes required as a result of the Client's failure to render decisions in a timely manner</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	~			
1.18 BASIC		1.18	Professional Coordination - Work of Client's Own Forces – Coordinate the work of Client's own forces with that of the general contractor. Set out in writing the agreed to extent to which coordination services apply in section.	✓			
1.19 BASIC	COORDINA	1.19	Project Coordination - Legal Documents required to facilitate acquisition, assembly, or disposition (real estate transactions): Coordinate legal documents for acquisition, assembly or sales required to facilitate the development, including but not limited to coordination with legal consultant for disclosure statements; closing and conveyance documents.	~			
1.20 BASIC	TRATION &	1.20	Project Coordination - Legal Documents required to facilitate development. <i>Provide</i> assistance to lawyer in coordination of any legal documents required to facilitate the development, including but not limited title review, subdivision documents; statutory rights-of-way; easements; servicing agreements; lease agreements; air space parcel requirements; and stratification.	✓			
1.21 BASIC	SINIMO	1.21	Project Management - Budget and Proforma. Create a viable pro forma including projected rental rates which meet affordable definitions and meet partnership or funding requirements.	<b>~</b>			
1.22 BASIC	OJECT AI	1.22	<b>Project Management - Approvals.</b> <i>Manage, coordinate and liaise</i> with project team to obtain necessary municipal, regional, provincial and federal approvals to facilitate development including meetings with Staff representatives, officials and officers, health authorities, review boards and committees, and politicians.	~			
1.23 BASIC	РК	1.23	<b>Project Management - Client Reporting.</b> Prepare and coordination reports and presentations in status updates to the Client.	<b>~</b>			
1.24 BASIC		1.24	Project Management - Construction Delivery & Procurement. Assist Client in procurement and delivery method of construction, including, but not limiting to advisory regarding construction contract form (i.e.: design build, design tender, fixed price, etc) and guiding process compliance with BC Housing Procurement Guidelines for Non-Profit Housing as required.	~			

#### Instructions:

Parties to the Development Consultant Services Agreement, using this Schedule A - Services Matrix as a scope guide are to indicate via a check mark (•) in the applicable box for the services to be provided by the Development Consultant, by Others, by the Client, or indicate that that service is not applicable.

#### Consultants engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project

In the event that Consultants Services are completed by a Consultant (i.e.: a sub-consultant) engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of the Development Consultant, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Development Consultant Services" column.

#### Consultant engaged by the Client for the Project

In the event that services are completed by a consultant engaged by the Client for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of Others, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Provided by Others" column.

#### Notes:

This Services Matrix as part of the BC Housing Development Consultant Services Contract is not intended to be used to engage for professional design services, nor is it meant to replace any form of contract that exists under a professional standard that governs professional design/engineering services. The matrix is specifically for the purposes of defining a Development Consultant's scope of work. The purpose of assigning scopes to team members by 'ticking' the column is to ensure that redundancy is kept to a minimum and that value is expressed through the resultant fees. For tasks or services not covered in this Schedule A – Services Matrix, please see Part F of the Agreement.

The Services Identified to be provided by the Development Consultant in this Schedule A - Services Matrix are in addition to any Consultant Services to be provided by the Development Consultant in the main body of the Development Consultant Services Agreement.

## Project Name:

Project	Address:						
Client N	ame:					r	
BASIC SERVICES	STAG	E	DESCRIPTION	DEVELOPMENT CONSULTANT SERVICES	CLIENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES	PROVIDED BY OTHERS	NOT APPLICABLE
1.25 BASIC	ATION & PHASES)	1.25	Project Management - Construction Delivery & Procurement. Assist Client in the investigation of alternative design approaches. Review alternative construction procurement and delivery methods, relevant contracts and Project implications for risk management, budget and scope management and overall project success.	<			
1.26 BASIC	ADMINISTR TION (ALL	1.26	Project Management - Reporting. Create and maintain regular reporting to the Client on property and member development activities, including financial statements for the Client on a minimally quarterly basis until BC Housing's Final Project Commitment approval is issued and monthly thereafter until initial occupancy of the Project is issued by the governing municipality. Financial statements are to be prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied and in keeping iwth the standards of the industry for similar projects. Financial statements are to be delivered within 10 calendar days of quarter or month end, as the case may be.	✓			
1.27 BASIC	OJE ORD	1.27	Project Management - Risk Management. Create and maintain a risk management strategy with milestone reporting to Client.	<			
1.28 BASIC	PR	1.28	Project Management - Scheduling . Create and maintain work plans with task and timelines to keep projects on track.	$\checkmark$			

#### Instructions:

Parties to the Development Consultant Services Agreement, using this Schedule A - Services Matrix as a scope guide are to indicate via a check mark (•) in the applicable box for the services to be provided by the Development Consultant, by Others, by the Client, or indicate that that service is not applicable.

#### Consultants engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project

In the event that Consultants Services are completed by a Consultant (i.e.: a sub-consultant) engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of the Development Consultant, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Development Consultant Services" column.

#### Consultant engaged by the Client for the Project

In the event that services are completed by a consultant engaged by the Client for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of Others, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Provided by Others" column.

#### Notes:

This Services Matrix as part of the BC Housing Development Consultant Services Contract is not intended to be used to engage for professional design services, nor is it meant to replace any form of contract that exists under a professional standard that governs professional design/engineering services. The matrix is specifically for the purposes of defining a Development Consultant's scope of work. The purpose of assigning scopes to team members by 'ticking' the column is to ensure that redundancy is kept to a minimum and that value is expressed through the resultant fees. For tasks or services not covered in this Schedule A – Services Matrix, please see Part F of the Agreement.

The Services Identified to be provided by the Development Consultant in this Schedule A - Services Matrix are in addition to any Consultant Services to be provided by the Development Consultant in the main body of the Development Consultant Services Agreement.

Project Name: Project Address:

Client Name:						1	
BASIC SERVICES	STAG	E	DESCRIPTION	DEVELOPMENT CONSULTANT SERVICES	CLIENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES	PROVIDED BY OTHERS	NOT APPLICABLE
		2.01	<ul> <li>Project Management - Analysis of Client's Needs – Review Client's stated objective for the Project and advise.</li> </ul>				
		2.02	Project Management - Initial Evaluation - Prepare and review with Client an initial evaluation of Client's requirements, expectations, budgets, Project site, proposed delivery methodology, procurement methods and other initial Client provided information.				
2.03 BASIC		2.03	Project Management - Analysis of Project Viability - Review and analyze viability of the project, including qualification for funding or financing opportunities. Review would also include alterative analysis, evaluating design or program concepts with the goal to align delivery methods, cost, schedule, quality, function, aesthetics and performance.	~			
	2	2.04	Project Management - Site Selection - Assist Client in finding and acquiring site for the Project.				
		2.05	Project Management - Site evaluation study – Review the site of the project and assess the suitability of the site to accommodate the Client's project. In doing so, take into account known site constraints, ability to support future additions and alterations, and potential impact of proposed developments in the vicinity of the site.				
	ELOP	2.06	<b>Due Diligence - Needs and Demand Study.</b> Coordinate services required to complete a Needs and Demand Study.				
	DESIGN DEVELOPMENT	2.07	Due Diligence - Professional Reports - As per specific project needs, assist Client in engaging and coordinating the activities required to complete the following services/reports:         Land and/or Building Survey;         Preliminary Geotechnical Report or Soils Report;         Hazardous Materials Report;         Building Conditions Report;         Land Title Review;         Environmental Report;         Archeological review; and         Topographical and/or Arborist Survey.				
		2.08	Project Management - Site Preparation - Demolition - Provide the coordination of hazardous materials analysis, hazardous materials remediation and/or abatement, demolition of existing buildings and environmental.				
		2.09	Project Management - Site Preparation - Environmental Investigation - Assist and coordinate for the Client the completion of a of a Phase 1 (ESA Ph1), and if applicable, a Phase 2 Environmental Site Assessment (ESA Ph2) to determine extents of Areas of Potential Environmental Concern (APECs) or Areas of Known Environmental Concern (AECs). This includes coordination of contractors and environmental consultants (and/or Ministry of Environment roster agents) to successfully remediate and/or address the reported APECs and AECs and obtain the applicable Certification of Compliance (CoC) or Approval in Principle (AIP).				
		2.10	Project Management - Site Preparation - Environmental Remediation - Assist and coordinate contractors and environmental consultants (and/or Ministry of Environment roster agents) to successfully remediate and/or address the reported APECs and AECs and obtain the applicable Certification of Compliance (CoC) or Approval in Principle (AIP).				
		2.11	Project Management - Comparative studies of prospective sites – Review a number of selected potential sites for the project and assess the suitability of each site to accommodate the Client's project.				

5 of 13

#### Instructions:

Parties to the Development Consultant Services Agreement, using this Schedule A - Services Matrix as a scope guide are to indicate via a check mark (•) in the applicable box for the services to be provided by the Development Consultant, by Others, by the Client, or indicate that that service is not applicable.

#### Consultants engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project

In the event that Consultants Services are completed by a Consultant (i.e.: a sub-consultant) engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of the Development Consultant, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Development Consultant Services" column.

#### Consultant engaged by the Client for the Project

In the event that services are completed by a consultant engaged by the Client for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of Others, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Provided by Others" column.

#### Notes:

This Services Matrix as part of the BC Housing Development Consultant Services Contract is not intended to be used to engage for professional design services, nor is it meant to replace any form of contract that exists under a professional standard that governs professional design/energineering services. The matrix is specifically for the purposes of defining a Development Consultant's scope of work. The purpose of assigning scopes to team members by 'ticking' the column is to ensure that redundancy is kept to a minimum and that value is expressed through the resultant fees. For tasks or services not covered in this Schedule A - Services Matrix, please see Part F of the Agreement.

The Services Identified to be provided by the Development Consultant in this Schedule A - Services Matrix are in addition to any Consultant Services to be provided by the Development Consultant in the main body of the Development Consultant Services Agreement.

Client Na	ame:						
BASIC SERVICES	STAG	E	DESCRIPTION	DEVELOPMENT CONSULTANT SERVICES	CLIENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES	PROVIDED BY OTHERS	NOT APPLICABLE
2.12 BASIC	Ł	2.12	Project Management - Feasibility- Complete project feasibility study. Analyze the reasonable probability of the Client's objectives for the project being reached within the budget allocation and advise on measures to align the project requirements with the budget if in the first instance the expectations are not feasible.	<b>~</b>			
	ELOPME	2.13	Project Management - Regulatory Review - Assist Client and Client's Consultants in the review of applicable statues, regulations, codes and by-laws, and where necessary review with authorities having jurisdiction, so that necessary regulatory consents, approvals, licenses and permits may be obtained.				
2.14 BASIC	PRE-DEV	2.14	Project Management - Scope Management - Assist the Client in reviewing conceptual design and/or design development drawings to confirm its programming and operational requirements are addressed to and are in alignment with the objectives set out by the Client.	~			
2.15 BASIC	PRE-DESIGN / PRE-DEVELOPMENT	2.15	Project Management - Construction Estimate - Assist the Client in determining a probable construction costs to serve as a construction budget until more detailed estimate of probable costs can be determined (i.e. as design development evolves), based on the building program, site conditions, timing of construction, known industry factors, and building form & typology.	~			
2.16 BASIC	PRE	2.16	<b>Project Management - Pre-construction.</b> Coordinate project pre-construction financing requirements including compiling and submitting requests for payments each month and reconciling such payment.	~			
		2.17	Project Management - Operational Management Planning - Support the Client in the review of any government funding program's operating agreements and its responsibilities under those agreements if applicable.				
2.18 BASIC		2.18	Project Management - Procurement of Professional Services - Assist the Client in soliciting, receive and evaluate competitive consultant bids and make award recommendations to the Client for the Project.	$\checkmark$			
2.19 BASIC		2.19	Professional Coordination - Funding & Financing Application and Compliance. Assist the Client with securing pre-development funding.	$\checkmark$			

#### Instructions:

Parties to the Development Consultant Services Agreement, using this Schedule A - Services Matrix as a scope guide are to indicate via a check mark (•) in the applicable box for the services to be provided by the Development Consultant, by Others, by the Client, or indicate that that service is not applicable.

#### Consultants engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project

In the event that Consultants Services are completed by a Consultant (i.e.: a sub-consultant) engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of the Development Consultant, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Development Consultant Services" column.

#### Consultant engaged by the Client for the Project

In the event that services are completed by a consultant engaged by the Client for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of Others, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Provided by Others" column.

#### Notes:

This Services Matrix as part of the BC Housing Development Consultant Services Contract is not intended to be used to engage for professional design services, nor is it meant to replace any form of contract that exists under a professional standard that governs professional design/engineering services. The matrix is specifically for the purposes of defining a Development Consultant's scope of work. The purpose of assigning scopes to team members by 'ticking' the column is to ensure that redundancy is kept to a minimum and that value is expressed through the resultant fees. For tasks or services not covered in this Schedule A - Services Matrix, please see Part F of the Agreement.

The Services Identified to be provided by the Development Consultant in this Schedule A - Services Matrix are in addition to any Consultant Services to be provided by the Development Consultant in the main body of the Development Consultant Services Agreement. Project Name

Ľ	i i ojeci	Nume.
h	Proiect	Address:

Client Name:
Chefit Name.

Client N	ame:				1		
BASIC SERVICES	STAG	E	DESCRIPTION	DEVELOPMENT CONSULTANT SERVICES	CLIENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES	PROVIDED BY OTHERS	NOT APPLICABLE
		3.01	Professional Coordination - Architectural Models – Assist Client in engagement of model builder and coordination of construction of scale models for Client's use.				
		3.02	Professional Coordination - Marketing Documents – Assist Client preparation of promotional presentations.				
3.03 BASIC		3.03	Professional Coordination - Schematic Design Documents – Based on the mutually agreed upon program of requirements, schedule and construction budget, coordinate for the Client's review and approval, schematic design documents to illustrate the scale and character of the project and how the parts of the project functionally relate to each other as listed below: (insert additional documents as applicable)         • Site Plan         • Spatial Relationship Diagrams         • Principal Floor Plans         • Building Sections         • Cuttine Specifications	~			
	SCHEMATIC DESIGN	3.04	Project Management - Estimate of Probable Construction Cost & Updates to Proforma – Coordinate with Project contractor and/or Project Consultants to update the estimate of probable construction cost based on current area or volume unit costs factored to anticipated time of construction and detail impact to capital budget and proforma for Client.				
	SCHEMAT	3.05	Project Management - Master Planned Development - Assist Client, and coordinate Project Consultants in the development of a Master Plan for project site in line with project objectives. Note: This is intended for large sites that generally have mulitple phases, is mixed use, and has an extensive entitlements approvals process and build out schedule.				
		3.06	Project Management - Update Project Schedule - Update and submit to Client an updated project schedule identifying major and minor tasks, sequence of tasks, duration of tasks, start and finish dates of tasks, interdependencies of tasks, critical path and major project milestones. *This is not necessarily a detailed construction schedule.				
		3.07	Project Management - Stakeholder Engagement & Consultation - Coordinate and participate in communication and consultation activities with all of: approval bodies (staff and if required, elected officials); identified stakeholders; neighbourhood and community; and general public and manage all Project communications and media so they adhere to BC Housing's media and communication requirements.				
3.08 BASIC		3.08	Project Management - MILESTONE REVIEW - Review current status of project in relation to objectives including cost, schedule and scope and confirm client approval to be obtained before proceeding to next phase.	~			

#### Instructions:

Parties to the Development Consultant Services Agreement, using this Schedule A - Services Matrix as a scope guide are to indicate via a check mark (•) in the applicable box for the services to be provided by the Development Consultant, by Others, by the Client, or indicate that that service is not applicable.

#### Consultants engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project

In the event that Consultants Services are completed by a Consultant (i.e.: a sub-consultant) engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of the Development Consultant, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Development Consultant Services" column.

#### Consultant engaged by the Client for the Project

In the event that services are completed by a consultant engaged by the Client for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of Others, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Provided by Others" column.

#### Notes:

This Services Matrix as part of the BC Housing Development Consultant Services Contract is not intended to be used to engage for professional design services, nor is it meant to replace any form of contract that exists under a professional standard that governs professional design/engineering services. The matrix is specifically for the purposes of defining a Development Consultant's scope of work. The purpose of assigning scopes to team members by 'ticking' the column is to ensure that redundancy is kept to a minimum and that value is expressed through the resultant fees. For tasks or services not covered in this Schedule A – Services Matrix, please see Part F of the Agreement.

The Services Identified to be provided by the Development Consultant in this Schedule A - Services Matrix are in addition to any Consultant Services to be provided by the Development Consultant in the main body of the Development Consultant Services Agreement.

i i ojeci Addies
Client Name:

Client N	ame:			[		1	
BASIC SERVICES	STAG	STAGE DESCRIPTION		DEVELOPMENT CONSULTANT SERVICES	CLIENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES	PROVIDED BY OTHERS	NOT APPLICABLE
4.01 BASIC			Project Management - Approvals. Manage, coordinate and liaise with project team to obtain necessary municipal, regional, provincial and federal approvals to facilitate development including meetings with Staff representatives, officials and officers, health authorities, review boards and committees, and politicians. Services should estimate time involved based on average processing times by specific municipality and complexity of design review and approvals process (i.e.: not all municipalities have Urban Design Panels),.	~			
4.02 BASIC			Project Management - Approvals - Coordinate and participate in community meetings and consultations to build support for housing proposals including liaising with municipal planning staff, neighbourhood organizations and local elected officials.	~			
4.03 BASIC	AENT		Project Management - Approvals Strategy - Strategize with Client and Client consultants to determine approvals process and sequence (i.e.: Staged Building Permit, staged Occupancy Permit)	~			
	DESIGN DEVELOPMENT		Project Management - Continue Review of Applicable Statutes, Codes etc. – Review applicable statutes, regulations codes and by-laws as the design of the project is developed and that the applicable professional or member of the project team is assigned to review.				
	SIGN DE		Project Management - Design Review - Assist Society in monitoring the project design at 50%, 75% and pre-tender stages to manage the needs of the Client and BC Housing, cross referenceing to the required (as required) level of adherence to BC Housing Design Guidelines.				
	DE		Project Management Estimate of Probable Construction Costs & Updates to Proforma - Coordinate with Project contractor and/or Project Consulants to update the estimate of probably construction costs based on current area or volume unit costs factored to anticiapted time of construction and detail impact to capital budget and proforma for Client.				
			Project Management - Update Project Schedule - Update and submit to Client an updated project schedule identifying major and minor tasks, sequence of tasks, duration of tasks, start and finish dates of tasks, interdependencies of tasks, critical path and major project milestones.				
4.08 BASIC			Project Management - MILESTONE REVIEW - Review current status of project in relation to objectives including cost, schedule and scope and confirm client approval to be obtained before proceeding to next phase.	<b>~</b>			

#### Instructions:

Parties to the Development Consultant Services Agreement, using this Schedule A - Services Matrix as a scope guide are to indicate via a check mark (•) in the applicable box for the services to be provided by the Development Consultant, by Others, by the Client, or indicate that that service is not applicable.

#### Consultants engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project

In the event that Consultants Services are completed by a Consultant (i.e.: a sub-consultant) engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of the Development Consultant, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Development Consultant Services" column.

#### Consultant engaged by the Client for the Project

In the event that services are completed by a consultant engaged by the Client for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of Others, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Provided by Others" column.

#### Notes:

This Services Matrix as part of the BC Housing Development Consultant Services Contract is not intended to be used to engage for professional design services, nor is it meant to replace any form of contract that exists under a professional standard that governs professional design/engineering services. The matrix is specifically for the purposes of defining a Development Consultant's scope of work. The purpose of assigning scopes to team members by 'ticking' the column is to ensure that redundancy is kept to a minimum and that value is expressed through the resultant fees. For tasks or services not covered in this Schedule A – Services Matrix, please see Part F of the Agreement.

The Services Identified to be provided by the Development Consultant in this Schedule A - Services Matrix are in addition to any Consultant Services to be provided by the Development Consultant in the main body of the Development Consultant Services Agreement.

Project Address: Client Name:								
BASIC SERVICES		STAG	E	DESCRIPTION	DEVELOPMENT CONSULTANT SERVICES	CLIENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES	PROVIDED BY OTHERS	NOT
5.01 BASIC			5.01	Professional Coordination - Client's Operations Plan -Assist Client to establish post construction operating management plan in accordance with Client's objectives and, if applicable BC Housing Operator or Operating Agreement.	✓			
			5.02	Project Management - Value Engineering - Co-ordinate value engineering workshops at various milestone stages of design when scope, budget and/or schedule risks are identified and mitigation is required.				
			5.03	Project Management - Design Review - Assist Society in monitoring the project design at 50%, 75% and 100% completion manage the needs of the Client and BC Housing, cross referenceing to the required (as required) level of adherence to BC Housing Design Guidelines.				
	PHASE	hase	5.04	Professional Coordination - Prepare Bidding Requirements and Construction Contract Conditions - Obtain instructions from and advise Client on the preparation of the necessary bidding requirements, bid forms, and form of Construction Contracts. If applicable, advise Client of BC Housing's Non-Profit Housing Procurement Guidelines. This includes assisting the Client in determining the construction procurement methodology.				
	WORKING DRAWING PI	Construction Documents Phase	5.05	Professional Coordination - Contractor Procurement (Pre-Qualification) - Assist Client with Pre-qualification of Bidders – Prepare parameters of pre-qualification process, advise participants of rating criteria. <i>Receive</i> responses from interested parties, prepare analysis spread sheet and report results to Client for decision, assemble and provide bid documents to bidders, monitor enquiries in regard to bid requirements.				
	RKING	structi	5.06	Professional Coordination - Contract Documents - (Preparation of Construction Contract Documents) – Assemble construction contracts and related documents for signature by the contracting parties.				
5.07 BASIC	MO	Cor	5.07	Professional Coordination - Contract Documents - (Revision of Documents to Incorporate Addenda) – Confer with Client, receive instructions and prepare contract documents incorporating relevant addenda information into composite documents.	>			
5.08 BASIC			5.08	Professional Coordination - Contractor Procurement (Negotiations) - Assist Client with construction contract negotiations	<b>~</b>			
			5.09	Professional Coordination - Contractor Procurement (Alternative Prices) - Identify and specify requirements for alternative prices to be submitted with bids.				
			5.10	Professional Coordination - Contractor Procurement (Unit Prices) - Identify and specify requirements for unit prices to be submitted with bids.				
			5.11	Professional Coordination - Contractor Procurement - Coordinate contractor's pre-bid conference or meeting.				

#### Instructions:

Parties to the Development Consultant Services Agreement, using this Schedule A - Services Matrix as a scope guide are to indicate via a check mark (•) in the applicable box for the services to be provided by the Development Consultant, by Others, by the Client, or indicate that that service is not applicable.

#### Consultants engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project

In the event that Consultants Services are completed by a Consultant (i.e.: a sub-consultant) engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of the Development Consultant, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Development Consultant Services" column.

#### Consultant engaged by the Client for the Project

In the event that services are completed by a consultant engaged by the Client for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of Others, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Provided by Others" column.

#### Notes:

This Services Matrix as part of the BC Housing Development Consultant Services Contract is not intended to be used to engage for professional design services, nor is it meant to replace any form of contract that exists under a professional standard that governs professional design/engineering services. The matrix is specifically for the purposes of defining a Development Consultant's scope of work. The purpose of assigning scopes to team members by 'ticking' the column is to ensure that redundancy is kept to a minimum and that value is expressed through the resultant fees. For tasks or services not covered in this Schedule A – Services Matrix, please see Part F of the Agreement.

The Services Identified to be provided by the Development Consultant in this Schedule A - Services Matrix are in addition to any Consultant Services to be provided by the Development Consultant in the main body of the Development Consultant Services Agreement.

Client Name:								
BASIC SERVICES	STAGE			DESCRIPTION	DEVELOPMENT CONSULTANT SERVICES	CLIENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES	PROVIDED BY OTHERS	NOT APPLICABLE
			5.12	Bidding Phase - Pre-qualification of Bidders - Prepare request for pre-qualifications, receive and coordinate responses from interested parties, and assist Client in evaluating responses.				
			5.13	Bidding Phase - Calling for Bids - Arrange and manage the process for public or invitational call for bids and distribution of bid documents.				
		c)	5.14	Bidding Phase- Pre-Bid Meetings - Organize and coordinate pre-bid meetings for bidders.				
	WORKING DRAWING PHASE           Project Management         Bidding / Negotiation Phase	Phase	5.15	<b>Bidding Phase - Inquires -</b> Assist the architect and/or corridinating professional in order to respond to and address questions raised by bidders during the bid period.				
		otiation	5.16	<b>Bidding Phase - Addenda -</b> Assist the architect and/or corridinating professional in order to prepare and issue addenda during bid period and before the award of the Construction Contracts.				
		ıg / Neg	5.17	Bidding Phase - Bid Receipt and Review and Evaluation - Assist the architect and/or corridinating professional in order to arrange for receipt of bids, opening of bids and review of bids, and assist the Client in the evaluation of the bids.				
		Biddir	5.18	Bidding Phase - Contractor Negotiations - Assist Client with construction contract negotiations				
			5.19	<b>Bidding Phase - Bonds and Insurance -</b> Assist the architect and/or corridinating professional in order to receive bonds and insurance documents for Client's review and acceptance. Advise Client for compliance with BC Housing Supplementary General Conditions.				
			5.20	<b>Bidding Phase - Assembly of Construction Contract -</b> <i>Assist the architect and/or corridinating professional in order to assemble</i> Construction Contract for legal review and signature by the Contracting Parties.				
5.21 BASIC		ent	5.21	Project Management - Approvals. Manage, coordinate and liaise with project team to obtain necessary municipal, regional, provincial and federal approvals to facilitate development including meetings with Staff representatives, officials and officers, health authorities, review boards and committees, and politicians.	<b>&gt;</b>			
		t Managem	5.22	Project Management - Estimate of Probable Construction Cost & Updates to Proforma – Coordinate with Project contractor and/or Project Consultants to update the estimate of probable construction cost based on current area or volume unit costs factored to anticipated time of construction and detail impact to capital budget and proforma for Client.				
		Projec	5.23	<b>Project Management - Update Project Schedule -</b> <i>Update and submit</i> to Client an updated project schedule identifying major and minor tasks, sequence of tasks, duration of tasks, start and finish dates of tasks, interdependencies of tasks, critical path and major project milestones.				
5.24 BASIC			5.24	Project Management - MILESTONE REVIEW - Review current status of project in relation to objectives including cost, schedule and scope and confirm client approval to be obtained before proceeding to next phase.	$\checkmark$			

#### Instructions:

Parties to the Development Consultant Services Agreement, using this Schedule A - Services Matrix as a scope guide are to indicate via a check mark (•) in the applicable box for the services to be provided by the Development Consultant, by Others, by the Client, or indicate that that service is not applicable.

#### Consultants engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project

In the event that Consultants Services are completed by a Consultant (i.e.: a sub-consultant) engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of the Development Consultant, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Development Consultant Services" column.

#### Consultant engaged by the Client for the Project

In the event that services are completed by a consultant engaged by the Client for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of Others, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Provided by Others" column.

#### Notes:

This Services Matrix as part of the BC Housing Development Consultant Services Contract is not intended to be used to engage for professional design services, nor is it meant to replace any form of contract that exists under a professional standard that governs professional design/engineering services. The matrix is specifically for the purposes of defining a Development Consultant's scope of work. The purpose of assigning scopes to team members by 'ticking' the column is to ensure that redundancy is kept to a minimum and that value is expressed through the resultant fees. For tasks or services not covered in this Schedule A – Services Matrix, please see Part F of the Agreement.

The Services Identified to be provided by the Development Consultant in this Schedule A - Services Matrix are in addition to any Consultant Services to be provided by the Development Consultant in the main body of the Development Consultant Services Agreement.

Project Name: Project Address:

Client Neme

Client Name:								
BASIC SERVICES		STAG	GE DESCRIPTION	DEVELOPMENT CONSULTANT SERVICES	CLIENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES	PROVIDED BY OTHERS	NOT APPLICABLE	
			6.01	Administration - Claims and Invoicing - Compile and submit construction claims each month during construction.	02111020			
			6.02	Administration - Accounting - Manage the collation and preparation so that all advances are properly made and can be accounted for, submitting a cover sheet to all claims showing expenditures to date in relation to approved Capital Budget.				
			6.03	Professional Coordination - Construction Contract Administration - Receive Proof of Workers' Compensation Board Certificates, Bonds and Insurance Policies.				
			6.04	Professional Coordination - Construction Contract Administration - Receive Statutory Declaration from contractor confirming that all payments to sub contractors from all previous claims have been paid accordingly.				
6.05 BASIC	PHASE	stration	6.05	Professional Coordination - Construction Kick Off Meeting - Coordinate construction kick off meeting with Society, Lender, CI, GC, Architect, etc. to review contract administration expectations. Where applicable, assist the architect and/or coordinating professional with coordination and administration.	>			
6.06 BASIC	CONSTRUCTION PHASE	Contract Administration	6.06	Professional Coordination - Consultation Services during Construction - Coordinate and attend monthly site meetings to manage appropriate Client representation. Where applicable, assist the architect and/or coordinating professional with coordination and administration.	<b>&gt;</b>			
	CONSTI	Contra	6.07	Professional Coordination - Commissioning - Assist Client in the development of a viable Project Commissioning plan and ensure completed including reporting.				
			6.08	Professional Coordination - Contract Documents - Supplemental Details and Instructions – Assist in the preparation and issuance of additional documents and supplemental instructions as required for clarification of the requirements of the contract documents. Where applicable, assist the architect and/or coordinating professional with coordination and administration.				
6.09 BASIC			6.09	Project Coordination - Change Notices/Orders and Change Directives – Assist the Client in the review of all Change Notices and Change Directives in relation to the scope schedule or budget of the Project.	<b>&gt;</b>			
6.10 BASIC			6.10	Project Coordination - Requests for information (RFI's) – Assist in the response for the requests for information from contractors and process accordingly. Where applicable, assist the architect and/or coordinating professional with coordination and administration.	<b>~</b>			
			6.11	Project Coordination - Evaluating Contractor's Proposed Substitutions – Assist Client in evaluating substitutions proposed by the contractor.				

#### Instructions:

Parties to the Development Consultant Services Agreement, using this Schedule A - Services Matrix as a scope guide are to indicate via a check mark (•) in the applicable box for the services to be provided by the Development Consultant, by Others, by the Client, or indicate that that service is not applicable.

#### Consultants engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project

In the event that Consultants Services are completed by a Consultant (i.e.: a sub-consultant) engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of the Development Consultant, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Development Consultant Services" column.

#### Consultant engaged by the Client for the Project

In the event that services are completed by a consultant engaged by the Client for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of Others, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Provided by Others" column.

#### Notes:

This Services Matrix as part of the BC Housing Development Consultant Services Contract is not intended to be used to engage for professional design services, nor is it meant to replace any form of contract that exists under a professional standard that governs professional design/energineering services. The matrix is specifically for the purposes of defining a Development Consultant's scope of work. The purpose of assigning scopes to team members by 'ticking' the column is to ensure that redundancy is kept to a minimum and that value is expressed through the resultant fees. For tasks or services not covered in this Schedule A - Services Matrix, please see Part F of the Agreement.

The Services Identified to be provided by the Development Consultant in this Schedule A - Services Matrix are in addition to any Consultant Services to be provided by the Development Consultant in the main body of the Development Consultant Services Agreement.

•	•	<u> </u>	,	•	•			~	
0	•	:~	n	•	ĸ	1-	-	~	

Client Name:								
BASIC SERVICES		STAGE		TAGE DESCRIPTION DEVELOP		CLIENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES	PROVIDED BY OTHERS	NOT APPLICABLE
6.12 BASIC			6.12	Administration - Site Meetings – Assist the Architect and/or coordination professional site meetings with contractor , major sub-contractors and consultants, where appropriate, to review the progress of the Work.	~			
		E	6.13	Administration - Field Review – Provide field review/general review services.				
		inistratio	6.14	Professional Coordination - Deficiencies - Ensure that deficiencies are corrected and occupancy occurs according to schedule.				
		Field Administration	6.15	Professional Coordination - Inspection & Testing Services – Support the Architect and/or coordination professionali s ensuring contractor follows inspection and testing as required by the construction contract, were appropriate, observe the contractor's performance of testing and receive and review their reports and report to Client				
	<b>\SE</b>		6.16	Professional Coordination - Off-Site Review of Manufactured Products – If off site review is required of major components, prefabrication sites etc., attend at these sites and perform general review to extent necessary to comply with general review services requirements.				
6.17 BASIC	ON PHASE		6.17	Project Management - Consistency to Client's Vision - Support the Architect and/or coordination professionali in ensuring the project is constructed according to contract documents, including drawings, specifications, within budget and schedule.	$\checkmark$			
6.18 BASIC	CONSTRUCTION		6.18	Project Management - Approvals. Manage, coordinate and liaise with project team to obtain necessary municipal, regional, provincial and federal approvals to facilitate development including meetings with Staff representatives, officials and officers, health authorities, review boards and committees, and politicians.	~			
	CON	Project Management	6.19	Project Management - Construction Cost, Cash Flow & Updates to Proforma – Coordinate with Project contractor and/or Project Consultants to update the construction cost based on current area or volume unit costs factored to anticipated time of construction and detail impact to capital budget and proforma for Client. Receive construction schedule and projected cash flow schedule, review against Client's anticipated construction duration and report to Client.				
		Proje	6.20	Project Management - Update Project Schedule - Update and submit to Client an updated project schedule identifying major and minor tasks, sequence of tasks, duration of tasks, start and finish dates of tasks, interdependencies of tasks, critical path and major project milestones.				
			6.21	Project Management - Substantial Completion - Assist Client in monitoring schedule and contractor performance including substantial completion and occupancy.				
6.22 BASIC			6.22	Project Management - MILESTONE REVIEW - Review current status of project in relation to objectives including cost, schedule and scope and confirm client approval to be obtained before proceeding to next phase.	$\checkmark$			

## SCHEDULE A - SERVICES MATRIX

#### Instructions:

Parties to the Development Consultant Services Agreement, using this Schedule A - Services Matrix as a scope guide are to indicate via a check mark (•) in the applicable box for the services to be provided by the Development Consultant, by Others, by the Client, or indicate that that service is not applicable.

#### Consultants engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project

In the event that Consultants Services are completed by a Consultant (i.e.: a sub-consultant) engaged by the Development Consultant for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of the Development Consultant, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Development Consultant Services" column.

#### Consultant engaged by the Client for the Project

In the event that services are completed by a consultant engaged by the Client for the Project, the service should be indicated as the responsibility of Others, and a check mark (•) should be entered into the corresponding box under the "Provided by Others" column.

#### Notes:

This Services Matrix as part of the BC Housing Development Consultant Services Contract is not intended to be used to engage for professional design services, nor is it meant to replace any form of contract that exists under a professional standard that governs professional design/engineering services. The matrix is specifically for the purposes of defining a Development Consultant's scope of work. The purpose of assigning scopes to team members by 'ticking' the column is to ensure that redundancy is kept to a minimum and that value is expressed through the resultant fees. For tasks or services not covered in this Schedule A - Services Matrix, please see Part F of the Agreement.

The Services Identified to be provided by the Development Consultant in this Schedule A - Services Matrix are in addition to any Consultant Services to be provided by the Development Consultant in the main body of the Development Consultant Services Agreement. Project Name

110,000	Name.
Project	Address:

Client N					1	1	1
BASIC SERVICES	STAG	E	DESCRIPTION DEVELOPMENT CONSULTANT SERVICES RE		CLIENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES	PROVIDED BY OTHERS	NOT APPLICABLE
		7.01	Project Management - Takeover Procedure – Arrange for takeover of the project by the owner (Client), including demonstration of operating equipment, handover of maintenance manuals and replacement parts as specified	ULINIOLS			
		7.02	Project Coordination - Client's Maintenance Procedures Instruction – At the completion of construction and in accordance with the terms and conditions of the contract between the owner and the contractor, <i>coordinate</i> with the contractor, and if appropriate, consultants to conduct maintenance procedures Instructions the Client's building maintenance personnel.				
		7.03	Project Coordination - Manuals and Documentation – At the completion of construction and in accordance with the terms and conditions of the contract between the owner and the contractor, <i>coordinate the receipt</i> from the contractor the operating manuals as specified, and turn them over to the Client.				
		7.04	<b>Project Coordination - Record Drawings -</b> At the completion of construction and in accordance with the term and conditions of the contract between the owner and the contractor, <i>coordinate the receipt</i> from the contractor and Consultants all as-built and record drawings and <i>coordinate</i> turn over to the Client.				
7.05 BASIC	RUCTION	7.05	<b>Project Coordination - Project Close Out</b> – <i>Assist</i> at the end of construction provide services in accordance with the standard provisions of the province or governing authority for the takeover of the project by the Client.	~			
	POST CONSTRUCTION	7.06	<b>Project Coordination - Systems Demonstrations</b> – At the completion of construction and in accordance with the terms and conditions of the contract between the owner and the contractor, <i>coordinate</i> with the contractor, and if appropriate, consultants to conduct systems demonstrations for the Client's operations personnel.				
	POS	7.07	Project Coordination - Tenancy & Occupancy - Assist Client with tenancy strategy which may include familiarity with local Housing Registries, income testing and Rental Tenancy Agreements.				
		7.08	Project Management - Maintenance and Improvement - Assist Client in developing a Maintenance and Improvement schedule for Operations.				
		7.09	Project Management - Financial Close Out - Provide a final capital cost statement to the Client.				
		7.10	Project Management - Mortgage Preparation (Interest Adjustment Date)- Assist Client in completing documents for take-out mortgage when required.				
7.11 BASIC		7.11	Project Coordination - Other Legal Documents - Assist Client with the completion of other legal documents to complete the development, including but not limited to the registration of specified encumbrances; final strata plans or other registered documents.	~			
7.12 BASIC		7.12	Project Management - Twelve Month Warranty Review –Prior to the end of the period of one year following the date of Substantial Performance of the Work, coordinate owner, contractor and architect to review any defects or deficiencies which have been reported or observed during that period, and notify to the contractor is made in writing of those items requiring attention by the contractor and agree on a schedule to complete the Work in accordance with the contract between the owner and contractor.	~			

# SCHEDULE B – Development Consultant Services Fee

Development Consultant Fees should be indicative of the Services Matrix and the applicable services provided by the Development Consultant. The following fee schedule should be in substantial accord with the services included in Schedule A.

# Determining Fees based on <u>basic</u> Services in the Service Matrix

See Service Matrix for list of basic services in Schedule A. Recommended fees are calculated on the Gross Capital Budget (excluding land costs) as follows:

- 4.80% on First \$2,000,000 of value or part thereof
- 2.00% on next \$2,000,000 of value or part thereof
- 1.00% on next \$4,000,000 of value or part thereof
- 0.50% on next \$8,000,000 of value or part thereof
- Fee maximum of \$216,000 for value above \$16,000,000

# Determining Fees based on <u>all</u> Services in the Service Matrix

See Service Matrix for list of all services in Schedule A. Recommended fee guidance is calculated on the Gross Capital Budget (excluding land costs) as follows:

- 5.00% on First \$2,000,000 of value or part thereof
- 4.00% on next \$5,000,000 of value or part thereof
- 2.00% on next \$10,500,000 of value or part thereof
- 1.00% on next \$7,500,000 of value or part thereof
- 0.65% on next \$20,000,000 of value or part thereof
- 0.50% on next \$20,000,000 of value or part thereof
- 0.25% of value in excess of \$65,000,000

# Determining Fees based on a portion of the Service Matrix

In Development Consultant Services Agreements where the Development Consultant is not providing all services outlined in the Service Matrix, adjustments are recommended in proportion to the number of service items that are provided. Fees are calculated on the Gross Capital Budget (excluding land costs) as follows:

- 1. Count the number of service items provided by the Development Consultant from the Service Matrix
- 2. Subtract 57 the number of service items provided and divide that number by 64 to calculate the "Service Ratio"
- 3. Calculate the fee based on all Services in the Service Matrix
- 4. Calculate the fee based on basic Services in the Service Matrix
- 5. Subtract the "Basic Services" fee from the "All Services" fee to calculate the "Fee Delta"
- 6. Calculate the Fee by multiplying the Service Ratio by the Fee Delta then adding that number to the calculated basic services fee

Service Ratio = 
$$\frac{(number of service items - 57)}{64}$$

**Fee Delta** = (fee for all service items – fee for basic service items)

**Fee** = fee for basic services + (Service Ratio x Fee Delta)

# **Alternative Methods for Determining Fees**

In instances where there is no valid relationship between the scope of services and the capital budget, Time Basis fees may be considered. Time-basis fees are appropriate for partial scopes of work or additional services. It may be appropriate to utilize time-basis fees at early stages of project until a conceptual plan is formed. Once a relationship between scope of services and capital budget can be established, fee calculations can be completed, and time-basis fees can be absorbed into the project fee. Recommended hourly fees are as follows:

- \$250 / hr for Principal
- \$150 / hr for Development Professionals
- \$100 / hr for Staff or Administrative

# **SCHEDULE C – Reimbursable Expenses**

Note: Insert BC Housing's Guidelines for Reimbursable Expenses available at either:

https://www.bchousing.org/publications/Supply-Chain-Reimbursable-Expenses.pdf

or: P-GFP- 2017 (2019-10-02) Reimbursable Expenses

# SCHEDULE D – Conflict of Interest Guidelines for Development Consultants

### A. Introduction

These Conflict of Interest Guidelines for Development Consultants (these "**Guidelines**") apply to the Development Consultant, its sub-consultants and all of their respective shareholders, directors, officers, agents, authorized representatives or employees.

The purpose of these Guidelines is to ensure that no Development Consultant, subconsultant or any of their respective shareholders, directors, officers, agents, authorized representatives or employees (each a "**Consultant**") performing duties in connection with the delivery, management or administration of a housing project funded, financed or facilitated by BC Housing and its agent Provincial Rental Housing Corporation (together referred to herein as "**BC Housing**") has a real, potential or perceived conflict of interest.

BC Housing has a duty to ensure, and is accountable for, the prudent spending of public money. Pursuant to that duty, BC Housing must be scrupulous to ensure that no such conflict of interest, whether real, potential or perceived, exists.

Capitalized words and phrases have the meanings set out in the Agreement, unless otherwise defined herein.

### B. Conflict of Interest

A Consultant to a Project has a conflict of interest when his/her/its business or personal interests are in actual, potential or perceived conflict with the duties which he/she/it has agreed to perform for the Client in connection with the Project.

As a Consultant, your business or personal interests are in conflict when you, or someone who is a "**related person**" (as defined below) to you, directly or indirectly receives or may receive a benefit in addition to any compensation received for, or any reimbursement for expenses incurred by you in, performing your duties as a Consultant for the Project.

You must avoid any situation that could result in a real or potential conflict of interest or the <u>appearance</u> of a conflict of interest.

Situations where you as a Consultant would have a real, potential or perceived conflict of interest include, but are not limited to, the following situations:

- 1. Where a person, firm or corporation (a "**Contractor**"):
  - (a) sells or leases or assists in the sale or lease of real or personal property to BC Housing or the Client, or
  - (b) performs duties or provides services to BC Housing or the Client in connection with the Project, and:
    - i. you or a related person are that Contractor;
    - ii. you or a related person are a director or officer or hold a senior management position with that Contractor;

- iv. you or a related person are a partner in that Contractor or have the right to become a partner in that Contractor;
- v. you or a related person hold or have the right to acquire, or have an interest in or the right to acquire an interest in, any stock, bond, debenture or security of or granted by that Contractor; or
- vi. you or a related person has any business, financial, personal or familial relationship with a director, officer or senior management person of that Contractor.
- 2. Where you or a related person own or have the right to acquire real or personal property in which BC Housing or the Client has, or will be acquiring, an interest for the Project.
- 3. Where you or a related person engage or attempt to engage in any personal business transaction or private arrangement for personal profit which arises because of your position as a Consultant for a Project, including but not limited to, because of Confidential Information which you acquire by reason of your position on the Project.
- 4. Where you or a related person have any interest or contractual arrangement with any other person, firm or corporation which supplies goods or services for the *Project*.

The term "**related person**" means a person who has a family connection or business association with a Consultant such that:

- (a) a transaction between BC Housing or the Client and the person would confer a benefit upon the Consultant, or
- (b) the relationship might affect, or give the appearance of affecting, the Consultant's ability to act impartially on behalf of the Project.

Some conflict of interest situations are fairly clear. For example, your spouse must not benefit personally from the sale or lease of land to BC Housing or to the Client. On the other hand, a conflict of interest may not always be immediately apparent. For example, you may be in conflict of interest if your spouse receives a commission for selling product in the usual course of their employment to BC Housing or the Client.

If you are uncertain as to whether or not a matter rises to the level of a conflict of interest, you are to raise the matter with the Client and the Director, Development Services of BC Housing for determination and if it is so determined by either the Client or BC Housing that there is a real, potential or perceived conflict of interest, the conflict of interest shall be reported to the Client and BC Housing immediately in accordance with these Guidelines. The Client and BC Housing require that you immediately report all real, potential or perceived conflicts of the Project to the Client and BC Housing in

accordance with these Guidelines. Failure to do so will constitute a Major Default by the Development Consultant under the Agreement.

#### C. Declaration Re Conflict of Interest

Prior to the Client entering into the Agreement with the Development Consultant with respect to the Project, the Development Consultant must:

- 1. provide a copy of these Guidelines to, and obtain from, each Consultant who is working, or may in the future work, on the Project, a written acknowledgment (an "Acknowledgement") that he/she/it has read and understands and agrees to comply with these Guidelines; and
- 2. complete, declare and deliver a statutory declaration (the "**Declaration**") in the form attached as Exhibit 1 to these Guidelines to the Client and a copy must be provided to BC Housing, to the attention of the Director, Development Services.

The Development Consultant must also provide a copy of these Guidelines to, and obtain an Acknowledgement from, any person who becomes a Consultant during the term of the Agreement.

It is not necessary to provide a copy of the Acknowledgements to the Client or BC Housing unless requested to do so. Acknowledgements must be retained by the Development Consultant for a period of two years following the termination of the Agreement.

If a real, potential or perceived conflict of interest of a Consultant arises during the term of the Agreement, the Consultant is required to immediately report same to the Development Consultant and the Development Consultant is required to promptly complete, declare and deliver a new Declaration disclosing the conflict of interest to the Client and a copy must be provided to BC Housing, to the attention of the Director, Development Services.

If any Consultant has a conflict of interest which has not been disclosed as required by these Guidelines and the Client or BC Housing becomes aware of it, the Development Consultant is required to immediately complete, declare and deliver a new Declaration disclosing the conflict of interest to the Client and a copy must be provided to BC Housing, to the attention of the Director, Development Services.

The Development Consultant must disclose all relevant information regarding the conflict of interest in the comprehensive description attached as Schedule "A" to the Declaration. The Development Consultant will provide any additional information requested by the Client or BC Housing.

Failure of the Development Consultant to immediately disclose a conflict of interest of a Consultant, whether real, potential or perceived, is a Major Default of the Development Consultant under the Agreement.

The Development Consultant must also promptly complete, declare and deliver a new Declaration to the Client and a copy must be provided to BC Housing, to the attention of the

Director, Development Services, at any time upon request of either the Client or BC Housing.

### E. Conflict of Interest Assessment

The Client and BC Housing will review all conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest situations on a case-by-case basis and may authorize the Consultant to proceed with certain transactions provided they are fair and reasonable to the Consultant, BC Housing and the Client.

You may not proceed with the proposed matter giving rise to a conflict of interest or receive any payment in connection therewith without the express written consent of the Client and BC Housing.

The Client and BC Housing may or not approve the Consultant proceeding with a transaction and/or receiving payment in their discretion.

## Exhibit 1 to SCHEDULE D - Conflict of Interest Guidelines for Development Consultants

#### To be delivered to the Client and BC Housing

### STATUTORY DECLARATION

CANADA	)	IN THE MATTER OF THE PROJECT LOCATED AT:
PROVINCE OF	)	
BRITISH COLUMBIA	)	[Address] (the " <b>Project</b> ")

TO WIT:

I,	, of	,
(Print Name)	(Address)	
	. British Columbia, do solemnly declare that:	

(Municipality)

- 1. I am the \_\_\_\_\_ [position held] of \_\_\_\_\_ [name of the Development Consultant] (the "**Development Consultant**") and as such have personal knowledge of the matters herein.
- 2. The Development Consultant has been retained by \_\_\_\_\_\_\_ [name of Client] (the "Client") to provide development consulting services to the Project pursuant to an Agreement dated \_\_\_\_\_\_ [date].
- 3. The Development Consultant has retained third party consultants (the "**Third Party Consultants**") to assist in the delivery of the development consulting services to the Project.
- 4. I have obtained from each of the directors, officers, shareholders, agents, authorized representatives and employees of the Development Consultant and the Third Party Consultants who are working, or may in the future work, on the Project, a written acknowledgment that he/she/it has read and understands and agrees to comply with the Conflict of Interest Guidelines for Development Consultants (the "**Guidelines**") attached hereto. <sup>1</sup>
- 5. To the best of my knowledge, information and belief, after having made due enquiry, no director, officer, shareholder, agent, authorized representative or employee of the Development Consultant or any Third Party Consultant has, as of the date of this declaration, a real, potential or perceived conflict of interest as contemplated by the Guidelines in connection with the Project, except:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Attach a copy of the Conflict of Interest Guidelines for Development Consultants.

	Initial as applicable:	
1.		Not applicable, there are no conflicts of interest <sup>2</sup>
2.		As set forth in Schedule "A" attached hereto. <sup>3</sup>

I make this solemn declaration, conscientiously believing it to be true and knowing that it is of the same force and effect as if made under oath pursuant to the <u>Canada Evidence Act</u>.

I make this solemn declaration in support of a request for the Client and BC Housing to approve the matter giving rise to the conflict of interest set forth on Schedule "A" attached hereto. [Delete this sentence if not applicable]<sup>4</sup>

DECLARED BEFORE ME at, in the Province of British Columbia, theday of , 20	)))
A Commissioner for taking Affide tits within	))))
A Commissioner for taking Affidavits within British Columbia	)
A Notary Public in and for the Province of British Columbia	)

Signature

Print Name

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> If there are no conflicts of interest to be declared, initial the first box "Not applicable".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> If there are conflicts of interest to be declared, initial the second box "As set forth in Schedule "A" attached. Then attach as Schedule "A", a **comprehensive description** of such conflicts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> If there are no conflicts of interest and no approvals being sought from the Client and BC Housing, delete this sentence.

# SCHEDULE "A" TO EXHIBIT 1 OF THE CONFLICT OF INTEREST GUIDELINES<sup>5</sup> DETAILS OF THE CONFLICT OF INTEREST<sup>67</sup>

This Schedule "A" need only be attached if there is a conflict of interest being declared. Include a comprehensive description of all relevant information pertaining to any real, 5

<sup>6</sup> potential or perceived conflicts of interest.

Attach on separate pages if necessary. 7

# **SCHEDULE E - Definitions**

In the Agreement, the following words and phrases have the meanings indicated:

- a) "Additional Services" means the additional services that may be provided by the Development Consultant to the Client pursuant to a Change Order;
- b) "**BC Housing**" means British Columbia Housing Management Commission;
- c) "Change Order" has the meaning ascribed to it in Section F11;
- d) "Change Request" has the meaning ascribed to it in Section F10;
- e) "Claims" has the meaning ascribed to it in Section I3;
- f) "Client" means party listed under Section A2;
- g) "Client Default Notice" has the meaning set out in Section AA1.1;
- h) "*Client Services*" means the services to be provided by the *Client* as set forth in Section D1;
- (h) "Confidential Information" means all information that Discloser discloses or makes available to the *Recipient*, whether orally or in writing, that is designated as confidential or that reasonably should be understood to be confidential given the nature of the information and the circumstances of disclosure. The existence and the terms and conditions of this Agreement, (including the Fee and other terms set forth in all Change Orders) are Confidential Information;
  - i) "Construction Consultants" means the third party construction consultant engaged by the *Client* to provide advice with respect to the construction of the *Project*,
  - j) "Consultant Services" means the services to be provided by the Development Consultant to the Client as set forth in Section B1;
  - k) "**Consultants"** means the third party consultants retained by the *Development* Consultant as listed in Section B7;
  - I) "Contractor" means the third party contractor engaged by the Client to construct the Project;
  - m) "**Design Consultant**" means the third party design consultant engaged by the *Client* to provide design plans for the *Project*;
  - n) "Development Consultant" means the party listed under Section A4;

- o) "**Discloser**" means a party that discloses or otherwise makes available Confidential Information;
- p) "Fee" means the fee payable to the Development Consultant as set out in Section C1;
- q) "Guidelines" means the Conflict of Interest Guidelines for Development Consultants set out in SCHEDULE E;
- r) "IT Threat" has the meaning ascribed to it in Section B18;
- s) "Key Personnel" means the person(s) listed under Section A7;
- t) "Major Default" means a breach by the Development Consultant of its obligations under the Agreement such that it is considered to be a breach of a material term of this Agreement giving rise to the remedies of the Client under Section G2. It being understood and agreed that the breaches identified in the Agreement as a Major Default are not meant to be the only breaches that are a breach of a material term of the Agreement;
- u) "*Other Consultants*" means the third party contractors, including the *Design Consultant*, the *Construction Consultant* and the *Contractor*, engaged by the Client to provide services in connection with the *Project*;
- v) "Others" has the meaning ascribed to it in SCHEDULE A SERVICES MATRIX;
- w) "Others Services" has the meaning ascribed to it in SCHEDULE A SERVICES MATRIX;
- x) "Personal Information" means any information about an identifiable individual, including such individuals' name, address, email address, phone number, age, gender, credit card numbers and financial information, that is collected by or accessible to the Development Consultant in the course of performing its obligations under the Agreement, including any such information relating to the Client's employees and members of the public that the Client serves;
- y) "*Phase*" means the relevant phase or section of the *Consultant Services* as set out in Section C2;
- z) "Place of Work" means the located described under Section A5;
- aa)"*Privacy Law*" has the meaning ascribed to it in Section J4;
- bb)" *Project*" means the project described under Section A4;
- cc) "*Rates*" means the rates set out in SCHEDULE B -CONSULTANT SERVICES FEE AND RATES;

- dd)"*Recipient*' means a party receiving Confidential Information;
- ee)"*Reimbursable Expenses*" means those eligible expenses incurred by the *Development Consultant* in connection with the *Project* that fall within those items listed in paragraph 3 of SCHEDULE C - REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES and are approved by the *Client* acting reasonably;
- ff) "*Release Date*" has the meaning ascribed to it in Section F9;
- gg)" *Requested Changes*" has the meaning ascribed to it in Section F10;
- hh)" **Step-In Notice**" means a written notice from *BC Housing* to the *Development Consultant* stating that *BC Housing* agrees to assume all the rights and obligations of the *Client* under the *Agreement*, including any liabilities for outstanding payment, and to otherwise take over the *Agreement* from the *Client*;
- ii) "Substantial Performance" has the meaning ascribed to it in the construction contract for the *Project*, with the *Contractor*,
- jj) "*Total Performance*" has the meaning ascribed to it in the construction contract for the *Project*, with the *Contractor*,